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In the Tax Court of the United States

Docket No. 22322

WILLIAM F. DAVIS, JR.,

Petitioner,

vs.

COMMISSIONER OF INTERNAL REVENUE,

Respondent.

DOCKET ENTRIES
1949

Apr. 1—Petition received and filed. Taxpayer noti-

fied. Fee paid.

Apr. 1—Copy of petition served on General Coun-
sel.

Apr. 1—Request for Circuit hearing in New York
filed by taxpayer. 4/12/49 Granted.

May 2—Answer filed by General Counsel.

May 2—Request for hearing in Los Angeles, Calif.,

filed by General Counsel. 5/4/49 Denied.
May 5—Copy of answer served on taxpayer. New

York, New York.

Nov. 23—Hearing set Jan. 23, 1950, New York.

1950

Jan. 24—Hearing had before Judge Harron, on
merits. Stipulation of facts filed at hear-

ing. Briefs due 3/10/50. Replies due
3/27/50.

Feb. 13—Transcript of hearing Jan. 24, 1950 filed.

Mar. 3—Joint motion to correct transcript filed.

3/6/50 Granted.
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1950

Mar. 7—Motion for extension to March 20, 19§0, to

file brief filed by General Counsel. 3/8/50

Granted.

Mar. 7—Motion for extension to March 20, 1950,

to file brief filed by taxpayer. 3/8/50

Granted.

]yiar. 20—Motion for extension to March 30, 1950,

to file brief filed by General Counsel.

3/21/50 Granted.

Mar. 22—Brief filed by taxpayer. 3/30/50 Copy

served.

Mar. 29—Brief filed by General Counsel.

Apr. 26—Motion for leave to file the attached reply

brief, brief lodged, filed by taxpayer.

4/26/50 Granted. 4/27/50 Copy served.

1951

Sept.28—Findings of fact and opinion rendered,

Harron, Judge. Decision will be entered

for the respondent. 10/2/51 Served.

Sept.28—Decision entered, Harron, Judge, Div. 13.

Dec. 19—Petition for review by U. S. Court of Ap-

peals, Ninth Circuit, entitled, ^^ William

F. Davis, Jr., now deceased, by the Estate

of William F. Davis, Jr., California Trust

Company, Executor," filed by taxpayer.

Dec. 19—Notice of filing petition for review filed

by taxpayer.

Dec. 19—Designation of contents of record on re-

view filed by taxpayer.
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Dec. 19-Affidavit of service by mail of notice of
filing petition for review, petition for re-
view, and designation of contents of rec-
ord on review, filed.

Dec. 19-Certificate filed, Superior Court of Calif.,
county of Los Angeles, showing letters'

testamentary, for California Trust Co.
executor n/w William F. Davis, Jr., de-
ceased.

[Title of Tax Court and Cause.]

PETITION
The above-named Petitioner hereby petitions for

a redetermination of the deficiency asserted by the
Commissioner of Internal Revenue in his Notice of
Deficiency dated January 19, 1949, and as the basis
for this proceeding, alleges as follows:

I.

Petitioner, an individual, resides at 740 South
Amalfi Drive, Pacific Palisades, California. He
timely filed his individual income tax return on the
cash basis for the taxable year involved with the
Collector of Internal Revenue for the Sixth Califor-
nia District.

II.

The Notice of Deficiency (a true and complete
copy of which is attached and marked Exhibit 1)
was mailed to Petitioner on January 19, 3949.
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III.

The taxable year involved is the calendar year

ended December 31, 1946. The deficiency asserted in

income tax for such year is $5,834.78, substantially

all of which is in controversy.

IV.

The determination of the tax liability set forth

in the deficiency notice is based on the following

errors

:

1 Respondent erred in detemining that an

amount of $12,659 paid by Petitioner during the

taxable year to Rexall Drug, Inc., constituted an

improper deduction under §23, LR.C.

2. Respondent erred in failing to allow the de-

duction of said $12,659 either under §23 (a) or (e)

of the Internal Revenue Code.

3. Respondent erred in determining a deficiency

in Petitioner's 1946 income tax in excess of an

amount attributable to the disallowance of a deduc-

tion for real estate taxes in the sum of $143.

V.

The facts upon which Petitioner relies as the

basis for this proceeding are as follows:

1 During the taxable year and for many years

prior thereto, Petitioner was an ofBcer, director and

general counsel of Rexall Drug, Inc. (formerly

known as United Drug, Inc.) and its subsidiary,

Rexall Drug Company (formerly known as United

Drug Company). Throughout such years, except
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for a period of service with the United States
Marine Corps in 1944 and 1945, Petitioner devoted
his entire time to discharge of the duties of such
positions.

2. During 1938 and 1940 Petitioner purchased
1,000 shares of capital stock of Rexall Dnig, Inc
at a cost of $4,971.88.

'
'

3. On Pebtuary 16, 1944, Petitioner with other
officers and executives of Rexall Drug Company
received from Rexall Drug Company an option to'

purchase 5,000 shares of the capital stock of Rexall
Drug, Inc., at a fixed price of $12.75 per share, said
option to be exercisable at stated intervals as set
forth therein.

4. In October and November, 1945, Petitioner
sold the 1,000 shares of capital stock of Rexall
Drug, Inc., referred to in paragraph 2 hereof, for
$25,441.50. Petitioner reported in his 1945 income
tax return a gain of $20,469.62 realized on such sale

.
and paid the tax attributable thereto.

5. As of December 31, 1945, Petitioner was en-
titled under the option referred to in paragraph 3

I hereof, to purchase 2,000 shares of the capital stock
of Rexall Drug, Inc. On said date. Petitioner
exercised his option and purchased such shares at
the option price, a total cost of $25,565.

6. Petitioner reported his sale and purchase of
stock of Rexall Drug, Inc., to the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the Commission's Form 4.

7. The Securities and Exchange Commission de-

V
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termined that, from the aforesaid transactions, Peti-

tioner had realized a "profit," within the meaning

of Section 16(b) of the Securities and Exchange

Act of 1934, of $12,659, which "profit" was com-

puted by subtracting the purchase price of 1,000

shares of the optioned stock purchased in Decem-

ber, 1945, viz., $12,782.50, from the proceeds re-

ceived by Petitioner from the sale of his original

1,000 shares, viz., $25,441.50.

8. In March, 1946, the Securities and Exchange

Commission refused to approve the use of certain

proxy material by Rexall Drug, Inc., unless Peti-

tioner either (1) paid Rexall Drug, Inc., the profit

alleged to have been realized by Petitioner from the

aforesaid sale and purchase, or (2) Rexall Drug,

Inc., included a statement in its proxy material that

the company or a stockholder acting on its behalf

might recover such alleged profit from Petitioner

under the provisions of Section 16(b) of the Se-

curities and Exchange Act of 1934.

9. Thereupon, Rexall Drug, Inc., demanded pay-

ment by Petitioner of the profit alleged to have

been realized by him from the aforesaid transac-

tions.

10. On April 5, 1946, Petitioner paid to Rexall

Drug, Inc., $12,659 in full settlement of such de-

mand.

Wherefore, Petitioner prays that the Court shaU

hear this proceeding and redetermine the deficiency

herein, and determine
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That said payment of $12,659 represents an allow-
able deduction to Petitioner under §23 (a) or (e)
of the Internal Revenue Code, and
That the deficiency in Petitioner's income tax for

the taxable year ended December 31, 1946, does not
exceed $32.44.

/s/ CHARLES C. MacLEAN, JR.,

/s/ LAURENCE F. CASEY,
Attorneys for Petitioner.

State of California,

County of Los Angeles—ss.

William P. Davis, Jr., being duly sworn accord-
ing to law, deposes and says

:

That he is the Petitioner named in the foregoing
Petition; that he has read such Petition and is
familiar with the statements made therein; and
that such statements are true to the best of his
knowledge, information and belief.

/s/ WILLIAM F. DAVIS, JR.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 28th day
of March, 1949.

/s/ ELIZABETH JEAN IVENS,
Notary Public.

My commission expires March 7, 1952.
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EXHIBIT 1

Treasury Department

Internal Revenue Service

417 South Hill Street

Los Angeles 13, California

Jan. 19, 1949.

LA:IT:90D:CTF

Mr. William F. Davis, Jr.,

740 South Amalfi Drive,

Pacific Palisades, California.

Dear Mr. Davis:

You are advised that the determination of your

income tax liability for the taxable year ended De-

cember 31, 1946, discloses a deficiency of $5,834.78,

as shown in the statement attached.

In accordance with the provisions of existing in-

ternal revenue laws, notice is hereby given of the

deficiency or deficiencies mentioned.

Within 90 days (not counting Saturday, Sunday,

or a legal holiday in the District of Columbia as the

90th day) from the date of the mailing of this letter,

you may file a petition with The Tax Court of the

United States, at its principal address, Washmg-

ton 25 D. C, for a redetermination of the deficiency

or deficiencies.

Should you not desire to file a petition, you are

requested to execute the enclosed form and forward

it to the Internal Revenue Agent in Charge, Los

Angeles, California, for the attention of LA:Conf.

The signing and filing of this form will expedite
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the closing of your return by permitting an early
assessment of the deficiency or deficiencies, and will
prevent the accumulation of interest, since the in-
terest period terminates 30 days after filing the
form, or on the date assessment is made, whichever
is earlier.

Very truly yours,

GEO. J. SCHOENEMAN,
Commissioner.

By /s/ GEORGE D. MARTIN,
Internal Revenue Agent in

Charge.
Enclosures

:

Statement

Form of waiver

Statement
LA:IT:90D:CTP

Mr. William F. Davis, Jr.

740 South Amalfi Drive
Pacific Palisades, California

Tax Liability for the Taxable Year
Ended December 31, 1946

Deficiency
Income tax

$ 5,8MnS
In making this determination of your income tax

Hability careful consideration has been given to the
report of examination, a copy of which was sent
you on October 22, 1948.
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Adjustments to Net Income

Net income as disclosed by return $11,315.23

Unallowable deductions

:

(a) Taxes lOO-*^

(b) Miscellaneous deduction. 12,659.00 12,759.43

Net income adjusted $24,074.66

Explanation of Adjustments

(a) It has been determined that real estate taxes

deducted in your return in the amount of $100.43

do not constitute an allowable deduction under sec-

tion 23(c) of the Internal Revenue Code, and that

amount is disallowed in computing net income.

(b) The Miscellaneous Deduction taken in your

return in the amount of $12,659.00, designated as

"Amount required to be paid to United Drug, Inc.

(now United-Rexall Drug, Inc.), pursuant to pro-

visions of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934" is determined to be an improper de-

duction under section 23, 1. R. C. This deduction is

disallowed in computing net income.

Computation of Tax

Net income adjusted $2^,074.66

Forwarded: * '

Brought Forward $24,074.66

Less: Exemptions _^f^
Balance, subject to surtax and

normaltax $22,574.66
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Tentative surtax ^ g 041.81
Tentative normal tax at 3% . . . 677.24

Total tentative tax $ 8,719.05
^^^^ 5% 435 95

Correct income tax liability $ 8 283 10

Income tax liability shown on
return, account No. 9124053 2,448.32

Deficiency of income tax $ 5 334 73

Received and filed T.C.U.S. April 1, 1949.

Served April 1, 1949.

[Title of Tax Court and Cause.]

ANSWER
The Commissioner of Internal Revenue, by his

attorney, Charles Oliphant, Chief Counsel, 'Bureau
of Internal Revenue, for answer to the petition of
the above-named taxpayer, admits and denies as
follows :

I. and II.

Admits the allegations contained in paragraphs
I and II of the petition.

III.

Admits that the taxable year involved is the
calendar year ended December 31, 1946, and that the
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deficiency asserted in income tax for such year is

$5,834.78. Denies the remaining allegations con-

tained in paragraph III of the petition.

IV.

1 to 3, inclusive. Denies the allegations of error

contained in subparagraphs 1 to 3, inclusive, of

paragraph IV of the petition.

V.

1. For lack of sufficient information as to the

truth or correctness thereof denies the allegations

of fact contained in subparagraph 1 of paragraph

V of the petition.

2. Admits the allegations of fact contained in

subparagraph 2 of paragraph V of the petition.

3. Denies the allegations of fact contained in

subparagraph 3 of paragraph V of the petition.

4. Admits that in October and November, 1945,

petitioner sold the 1,000 shares of capital stock of

Rexall Drug, Inc., referred to in subparagraph 2 of

paragraph V of the petition for $25,441.50. Denies

the remaining allegations contained in subparagraph

4 of paragraph V of the petition.

5 to 10, inclusive. Denies the allegations of fact

contained in subparagraphs 5 to 10, inclusive, of

paragraph V of the petition.

VI.

Denies each and every allegation contained in the
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petition not hereinbefore specifically admitted or
denied.

Wherefore, it is prayed that the determination of
the Commissioner be approved.

/s/ CHARLES OLIPHANT, ECC
Chief Counsel, Bureau of

Internal Revenue.

Of Counsel:

B. H. NEBLETT,
Division Counsel.

E. C. CROUTER,
A. J. HURLEY,

Special Attorneys,

Bureau of Internal Revenue.

Received and filed T.C.U.S. May 2, 1949.

[Title of Tax Court and Cause.]

REQUEST FOR DESIGNATION OF PLACE
OF HEARING

Now comes the Commissioner of Internal Reve-
nue, by his attorney, Charles Oliphant, Chief Coun-
sel, Bureau of Internal Revenue, and in accordance
with Rule 26 of the Court's Rules of Practice,

Requests that the Court designate that the hear-
ing in the above-entitled proceeding be held at Los
Angeles, California, or vicinity, in order to afford
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the respective parties an opportunity to produce

evidence at the trial with a minimum expense.

/s/ CHARLES OLIPHANT, ECC

Chief Counsel, Bureau of

Internal Revenue.

Of Counsel:

B. H. NEBLETT,

E. C. CROUTER,

A. J. HURLEY,
Special Attorneys,

Bureau of Internal Revenue.

Received and filed T.C.U.S. May 2, 1949.

Denied May 4, 1949, Bolan B. Turner, Judge.

Served May 4, 1949.

[Title of Tax Court and Cause.]

STIPULATION OF PACTS

It is hereby agreed by and between the parties to

this proceeding, by their respective counsel, that the

following statements are facts, subject to the right

of the parties to introduce any other and further

competent and material evidence not inconsistent

with the facts herein stipulated, and without pre3U-

dice to the right of either party to object at the

hearing to the materiality and relevancy of any

fact herein stipulated:

1 Petitioner, an individual, resides at 704 South

Amalfi Drive, Pacific Palisades, California. He
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timely filed his individual income tax return on the
cash basis for the taxable year 1946 with the Col-
lector of Internal Revenue for the Sixth California
District.

2. During 1938 and 1940 Petitioner purchased
1,000 shares of the capital stock of United Drug,
Inc., (now known as Rexall Drug, Inc.), at the cost
of $4,971.88. Market quotations, per share, during
1938 for such stock were: High, $7 %, Low, $4 %.
Market quotations, per share, during 1940 for such
stock were: High, $7 14, Low, $3 %.

3. A meeting of the Board of Directors of
United Drug, Inc., was held on November 24, 1943.
At such meeting, a discussion was had, as described
in the following quotation from the minutes of the
meeting; and the Board adopted the resolution
which is quoted below

:

"Option to Purchase United Drug, Inc., Stock.
"An extended discussion was had with respect to

the creation of a stock option plan whereby the
executives of United Drug Company and its sub-
sidiaries might purchase stock of United Drug, Inc.,
now held by United Drug Company. In the dis-
cussion, it appeared that Messrs. Dart, Davis,
Griffing and Lane, all members of this Board, might
be designated to be among those to participate in
such a plan. Accordingly these gentlemen did not
vote when the following resolutions were presented
to the Board and carried:

"Whereas, United Drug Company, the subsidiary
of this Corporation, has heretofore acquired in the
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open market and now holds 48,977 shares of the

common capital stock of this Corporation; and

"Whereas, the success of this Corporation and

of its subsidiaries depends in large measure upon

the interest and enthusiasm of the key executives

of its operating subsidiaries ; and

"Whereas, if such key executives are substantial

stockholders of this Corporation, or are granted

options to purchase a substantial number of shares

of its stock, they are given an additional incentive

and are disposed to have an even greater interest

and enthusiasm in the enterprise,

"Resolved, that the Board of Director of

this Corporation recommends to its subsidiary,

United Drug Company, that a plan be prepared

and put into effect whereby such executives of

United Drug Company as may be selected by

it shall be given options to purchase such num-

ber of shares of the capital stock of this Cor-

poration owned by United Drug Company at

such prices and upon such terms and conditions

as may be determined by United Drug Com-

pany."

4 On November 24, 1943, the Executive Com-

mittee of the Board of Directors of United Drug

Company (now known as Rexall Drug Company)

met and took the following action:

"Stock Option Plan

"The Committee was advised of a recommenda-

tion by the Directorate of United Drug, Inc., with
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respect to the creation of a Stock Option Plan
which was read to the meeting. After a thorough
discussion the following resolutions were adopted
Messrs. Dart, Davis, Griffing and Lane not voting!
"Whereas, this Corporation has heretofore ac-

quired in the open market and now holds 48,977
shares of the common capital stock of its parent.
United Drug, Inc. ; and
"Whereas, the success of this Corporation and

of its subsidiaries depends in large measure upon
the interest and enthusiasm of the key executives
of this Corporation and of such subsidiaries; and
"Whereas, if such key executives are substantial

stockholders of the parent of this Corporation,
United Drug, Inc., or are given options to pur-
chase a substantial number of shares of its stock,
they are given an additional incentive and are dis-
posed to have an even greater interest and en-
thusiasm in the enterprise,

"Resolved, that Messrs. Anderson, Basset and
Gales be and hereby are designated as the Execu-
tives' Stock Option Committee, with full power and
authority to prepare and put into effect a plan
whereby each such executive of this Corporation, or
of any of its subsidiaries as the said Committee
shall designate, shall be given an option to pur-
chase such number of shares of the common capital
stock of United Drug, Inc., owned by this Corpora-
tion upon such terms and conditions as the said
Committee shall determine at a price per share
equal to the average sales price of such shares on
the New York Stock Exchange on the day next
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preceding the date of the meeting of the Executives'

Stock Option Committee held to put the plan into

effect, or if there were no sales of such shares on

such day, on the first day prior thereto on which

there were such sales,

''and be it

"Further Resolved, that the said Committee sub-

mit copies of the minutes of its meetings at each

meeting of the Executive Committee of United

Drug Company."

5. On February 16, 1944, the Stock Option Com-

mittee submitted a report to the Executive Commit-

tee of the Board of Directors of United Drug Com-

pany, a true copy of which is attached as Exhibit 1.

On February 23, 1944, the Executive Committee of

the Board of Directors of United Drug Company

took the following action with respect to said

report

:

"Mr. Anderson presented to the Committee a

report of the Executive Stock Option Committee.

Upon motion duly made by Mr. Bassett and sec-

onded by Mr. Gales, it was unanimously

"Resolved, that the report be received and ap-

proved."

6. Pursuant to such report, United Drug Com-

pany entered into an agreement with Petitioner as

of February 16, 1944, a true copy of which is at-

tached as Exhibit 2.

7. On or about March 9, 1944, United Drug

Company filed a report with the Securities and Ex-

change Commission, on the Commission's Form 8-K.

I
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A true copy of such report is attached as Exhibit 3.

8. On October 25, 1945, Petitioner sold 500
shares of the stock of United Drug, Inc., which had
been purchased during the period 1938-1940 as
stated in Paragraph 2 hereof; and on December
1, 1945, Petitioner sold an additional 500 shares of
said stock. Market quotations on October 25, 1945,
per share, for the capital stock of United Drug Inc

'

were: High, $25 1/4, Low, $23 7/^, Closing, $25. Mar-
ket quotations, per share, on December 1, 1945 for
such stock were: High, $27, Low, $26 14, Closing,
$27. The aggregate amounts received in connection
with the sale of said 1,000 shares of United Drug
Inc., was $25,441.50. On November 1, 1945, and on
January 5, 1946, Petitioner reported such sales to
the Securities and Exchange Commission, on the
Commission's Form 4. Copies of the reports filed
on the Securities and Exchange Commission's Form
4 in respect of such sales are attached as Exhibits
4 and 5. Petitioner's total gain on the foregoing
sales was $20,469.62 which represented the differ-
ence between the cost of the 1,000 shares originally
purchased, viz. $4,971.88, and the aggregate selling
price, $25,441.50. Petitioner applied the capital
gams provision of Section 117, IRC, and reported
50% of $20,469.62, or $10,234.81, and paid the Fed-
eral income tax attributable thereto.

9. As of December 31, 1945, Petitioner was en-
titled under the option agreement (Exhibit 2) to
purchase 2,000 shares of the capital stock of United
Drug, Inc. On said date. Petitioner exercised his
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option and purchased such shares at the option price

of $12.75 per share, representing a total cost of

$25,565. Market quotations, per share, on Decem-

ber 31 1945, of the capital stock of United Drug,

Inc., were: High, $27 %, Low, $27, Closing, $27.

On January 10, 1946, Petitioner reported his pur-

chase of said shares of United Drug, Inc. to the

Securities and Exchange Commission, on the Com-

mission's Form 4. A true copy of said report is

attached as Exhibit 6.

10 On March 21, 1946, the Securities and Ex-

change Commission sent a letter to counsel for

United Drug, Inc., a photostat of which letter is

attached as Exhibit 7, which stated in part as fol-

lows: ,rr^.,T

"It is noted from reports filed by Mr. William

F Davis, Jr., that he sold and purchased shares of

stock of the issuer within a period of six months.

If these transactions resulted in profits to Mr. Davis

which are recoverable by the issuer under Section

16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, it

appears that the facts with respect thereto should

be disclosed in the proxy statement pursuant to

Item 5(1) (4) of Schedule 14A of the proxy rules,

to the extent that any such profits were material m

amount."

Following receipt by United Drug, Inc., of said

letter from the Commission, Petitioner, on April

8, 1946, paid over to United Drug, Inc., the amount

of $12,659 by certified check.

11. On April 5, 1946, the Board of Directors of
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Rexall Drug Company (formerly known as United
Drug Company) adopted the following resolutions:

Resolved, that the action of the Treasurer in
causmg to be transferred shares of stock of United
Drug, Inc., owned by this corporation pursuant to
the Stock Option Plan adopted by the Executive
Committee of this Board under date of November
24th, 1943, to executives of this corporation, includ-
ing officers and directors, is hereby in all things
approved, ratified and confirmed; and
"Further Resolved, that the Treasurer be and is

hereby authorized to make or cause to be made such
future transfers of stock of United Drug, Inc.,
owned by this corporation as may be necess'ary to
carry out the continued operation of the aforesaid
Stock Option Plan."

12. A true copy of the Notice of the Annual
Meeting of the Stockholders of United Drug Inc
to be held May 14, 1946, of the Proxy Statement in
respect thereof, and of the Proxy as mailed to the
stockholders of United Drug, Inc., by said Company,
under date of April 13, 1946, is attached as Ex-
hibit 8.

/s/ LAURENCE F. CASEY,
Counsel for Petitioner.

/s/ CHARLES OLIPHANT,
Chief Counsel, Bureau of Internal Revenue,' Counsel

for Respondent.

Filed at hearing January 24, 1950.
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The Tax Court of the United States

Docket No. 22322

WILLIAM F. DAVIS, JR.,

Petitioner,

vs.

COMMISSIONER OP INTERNAL REVENUE,

Respondent.

PROCEEDINGS

Tuesday, January 24, 1950

(Met, pursuant to notice, at 10:20 o'clock

a.m.)

Before: Hon. Marion J. Harron, Judge.

Appearances

:

CHARLES C. MacLEAN, JR., and

LAURENCE P. CASEY, of

ROOT, BALLANTINE, HARLAN, BUSHBY

& PALMER,

Appearing for the Petitioner.

JOSEPH P. ROGERS, ESQ.,

(Hon. Charles Oliphant, Chief Counsel,

Bureau of Internal Revenue) i

Appearing for the Respondent. ^

The Clerk: I call Docket No. 22322, William F.

Davis, Jr.

Please state your appearances, gentlemen.

Mr. MacLean: Charles C. MacLean, Jr., and
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Laurence F. Casey, who is at the table, for the Peti-
tioner.

Mr. Rogers
:

Joseph F. Rogers, for the Respond-
ent.

The Court: Mr. MacLean, I know you would
like to make an opening statement, and I would be
pleased to have you do so at this time.

Mr. MacLean
: Thank you, your Honor. I would.

This is an appeal from the Commissioner's assertion
of deficiency in Petitioner's 1946 income tax. In
his notice of deficiency the Commissioner has made
two adjustments, one of which, the disallowance of
some real estate taxes, is not contested.

The Petitioner has assigned error in respect of
the remaining adjustment, the disallowance of a
deduction of $12,659, which amount was paid by
Petitioner to his employer, the United Drug, Inc.,
during the taxable year, under the following cir-

ciunstances

:

During the taxable year, and for many years
prior thereto. Petitioner was vice president and
general counsel of the United Drug, Inc., and of its

wholly owned subsidiary, United Drug Company.
He was also a director of each company. These
companies, by the way, are referred to in the [3*]
petition by their present names. United Drug, Inc.,
being now known as Rexall Drug, Inc., and United
Drug Company now being known as Rexall Drug
Company.

During the years 1938 to 1940, Petitioner pur-
chased in the open market one thousand shares of
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stock of the United Drug, Inc. Subsequently, in

1943, the board of directors of the United Drug,

Inc., the parent company, recommended to its sub-

sidiary, the United Drug Company, that a program

be adopted by the subsidiary whereby certain key

executives of the parent and of the subsidiary would

be granted options to acquire stock of the parent,

which shares were then owned by the subsidiary.

The directors of the subsidiary approved such a

program, with the result that in February, 1944,

Petitioner received from the United Drug Com-

pany, the subsidiary, an option to acquire 5,000

shares of the stock of the United Drug, Inc., at a

price which equalled the then market value of

$12.75 a share. This option was exercisable in

annual installments of 1,000 shares each in the en-

suing five years.

Now, in October, 1945, Petitioner who had not

at that time exercised any of his option rights sold

five hundred of his original one thousand shares of

United Drug, Inc., which he had purchased in the

open market in 1938, and 1940; and, on December

1, 1945, he sold the remainder of those 1,000

The proceeds of these two sales, aggregating 1,000

shares, was $25,441.50. The Petitioner reported a

gain of some $20,000 in his return, with respect to

such sales, in his 1945 return.

Now, under the option agreement which I have

mentioned, Petitioner had become entitled in March,

1944 to purchase 1,000 shares of United Drug, Inc.,

stock, and again in March, 1945, to purchase an

additional 1,000 shares. He had not exercised either
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of those options when he made those sales I have
referred to in October and December. On Decem-
ber 31, 1945, pursuant to advice of counsel, Peti-
tioner exercised such options, and acquired 2,000
shares of the United Drug, Inc., stock, at the option
price of $12.75. That was a total of $25,565.
Now, Petitioner reported to the Securities and

Exchange Commission, pursuant to law, his sales
in October and December, and his purchases on
December 31, of the United Drug stock.

Section 16 (b) of the Securities and Exchange
Act of 1934 provides that in the case of a company
the securities of which are registered on a national
exchange, that if an officer or director of such com-
pany purchases and sells, or sells and purchases any
securities-any equity securities of such company
withm a period of less than six months, any spread
between the purchase and sales prices, or between
the [5] sales price and the subsequent purchase
price, shall inure to and be recoverable by the com-
pany in a suit instituted at law or equity, either by
the company or by any security holder of the com-
pany suing in its behalf.

The stated purpose of Section 16 (b) is to pre-
vent the unfair use of information which may be
obtained by such officer or director inside. The
SEC is given power, however, to exempt transac-
tions which "are not comprehended within the
purpose of this subsection."

As a result of these reports which the Petitioner
filed, the Securities and Exchange Commission no-
tified the United Drug, Inc., that the Petitioner's
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sale of 1,000 shares acquired in 1938 and 1940, and

Ms subsequent purchase of 1,000 shares of the

United Drug, Inc., stock under the option, were

within the provisions of Section 16 (b), and that

any profit realized therefrom, and any spread be-

tween the proceeds of the sale and the cost of the

option stock, was recoverable by the company; and

they told the company also the disclosure of such

facts should be made in the company's proxy state-

ment to its stockholders, unless, of course, Petitioner

repaid the so-called profit to the company. The

profit was determined to be $12,659. That is the

difference between the net proceeds of the sale of

1,000 shares—$25,441.50—and the price paid for an

equal number of shares subsequently purchased

under the option. [6]

The Court: What was that price? [7]

Mr. MacLean: $12,782.50. That is one-half of

the $25,565, which he paid for 2,000 shares on De-

cember 31.

The Court: What did he pay for 2,000 shares?

Mr. MacLean: $25,565.

The Court: What was the option price that he

was allowed to buy them at?

Mr. MacLean: $12.75.

The Court : $12.75 a share ?

Mr. MacLean: Yes, and he purchased 2,000

shares but 1,000 of those wasn't in question. It was

just matching one-half of those against the earlier

sale of 1,000 shares.

Following receipt of that notice, the company

demanded Petitioner turn over to it that spread, or
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the sum of $12,659, and Petitioner did so on April
8, 1946.

^

It is our position that such payment represents
an allowable deduction from gross income either
under Section 23 (e) (1), as a loss incurred in trade
or busmess, or 23 (e) (2), as a loss incurred in a
transaction entered into for profit; or, that it is
deductible under 23 (a) (1), as an ordinary and
necessary expense paid in carrying on a trade or
business.

Thank you.

The Court: Do your pleadings cover the alterna-
tive statutory provisions under which you are claim-
ing a loss ? [7]

Mr. MacLean
:

The pleadings, your Honor, refer
to that said payment of $12,000 represents an
allowable deduction to Petitioner under 23 (a) or
(e) of the Internal Revenue Code.
The Court: That would cover it. Thank you,

Mr. MacLean.

Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Rogers: If I may take just a few minutes,
your Honor
The Court: Take all the time you want to to

make your opening statement.

Mr. Rogers : Thank you, your Honor.
The facts he has covered pretty fully, but I think

in my opening statement I would like to emphasize
a little more fully, as background to this case, the
thing around which it revolves, and that is Section
16 (b).

The Court: 16 (b) of what statute?
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Mr. Rogers: Of the Securities and Exchange

Act of 1934:—Section 16 (b). The purpose of it was

to prevent the directors and the officers of cor-

porations from using inside information to realize

profits on short swing transactions, the whole thing

being consummated within six months' time.

In other words, if we take the facts of this case

here, we have on the facts of this case a perfect

instance of a 16 (b) transaction. We have the

director of this corporation [8] on October 25 and

December 1, of 1945, selling 1,000 shares of stock

to the corporation for $25,000, and in less than six

months' time we have him purchasing under a so-

called option 2,000 shares back at approximately

half price.

Now, the real issue in this case, your Honor, is

this: It may be argued that this is an option and

that 16 (b), therefore, wasn't intended to encom-

pass options. The basis for that argument may be

the fact that under a ruling which became effective

on May 6, 1949, there was an exemption given in

the case of options by the Securities and Exchange

Commission; but, it will be our contention in this

case that any attempt to argue the ruling which

became effective on May 6, 1949, to a series of cir-

cumstances which arose in 1945 and 1946, is read-

ing something into the law that just isn't there.

To summarize, it will be our contention that this

sale to the corporation and the purchase back at

approximately one-half price was a perfect 16 (b)

transaction. It will be our contention that it was a

penalty, and that since it was a penalty it is against
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public policy and would be against the purpose of
the 16 (b) statute to allow the director of this
corporation subsequently, in the year 1946, to claim
a tax deduction, after he had been penalized under
the statute. That is our contention, your Honor.
The Court: Mr. MacLean, would you like to

say something in reply at this time? [9]
Mr. MacLean: May I, your Honor? As the evi-

dence will show, Mr. Davis did not make any sales
to the corporation. His sales of 1,000 shares were
made on the stock market.

As for the statement regarding the penalty nature
of this payment, your Honor, I call attention to the
fact that payment is made to the company. It is

not made to any Government agency. The theory
of the statute was that insiders who used the inside
information which belonged to the company should
turn over to the company the profit which they
made upon the use of the information which be-
longed to the company; simply restitutionary. He
is turning over—if you are talking about the strict
theory of the statute—which, as I say, I have a
grave question whether or not this transaction was
within the purpose of the statute—but the strict

theory of the statute was that an insider who made
a profit on the basis of inside information—a short
swing profit they call it—should pay it over to the
company to whom such profit belonged.

I submit that is by no stretch of the imagination
a penalty within the public policy doctrine which
has been enunciated in some cases.

May I offer the stipulation of facts in duplicate,
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which is signed by the Petitioner, and to which are

attached eight exhibits, your Honor? Would you

like me to describe [10] those?

The Court: May I see the stipulation and the

exhibits first, if you please, Mr. Clerk?

The stipulation is received and made part of the

record.

I would like to have the Clerk mark these ex-

hibits on the minute sheet. They are agreed ex-

hibits and have been designated as Exhibits 1, 2,

and including 8, which is the proper designation for

exhibits by the Petitioner. Since the matter will

be clearer if these exhibits are noted on the minute !

sheet and are marked on the exhibits as received in
^

evidence, and since there is no objection to any of
|

these exhibits, I will ask you if you will please ofEer I

each exhibit and let the Clerk mark them.
j

Mr. MacLean: I offer as Petitioner's Exhibit 1
|

report of Stock Option Committee to Executive
|

Committee of United Drug Company dated Feb-
j

ruary 16, 1944.
. j

The Court: Without objection, that is received

as Exhibit 1.

(Whereupon the document was marked Peti-

tioner's Exhibit No. 1 for identification and

received in evidence.)

Mr. MacLean: I offer as Exhibit 2 photostat of

option agreement between United Drug Company

and William F. Davis, Jr., dated as of February

16, 1944. [11]
.

The Court: Without objection, that is received

as Exhibit 2.
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(Whereupon the document was marked Peti-

tioner's Exhibit No. 2 for identification and
received in evidence.)

Mr. MacLean: I offer as Exhibit 3 report on
Form 8-K of United Drug Company to Securities

and Exchange Commission respecting issuance of
options to purchase stock of the United Drug, Inc.,

dated March 9, 1944.

The Court: That is received as Exhibit 3.

(Whereupon the document was marked Peti-

tioner's Exhibit No. 3 for identification and re-

ceived in e\ddence.)

Mr. MacLean: I offer as Exhibit 4 report to

Securities and Exchange Commission by William
F. Davis, dated November 1, 1945, respecting sale

on October 25, 1945, of 500 shares of common stock

of the United Drug, Inc.

The Court : That is received as Exhibit 4.

(Whereupon the document was marked Peti-

tioner's Exhibit No. 4 for identification and
received in evidence.)

Mr. MacLean: I offer as Exhibit 5 report to the

Securities and Exchange Commission by W. F.

Davis, dated January 5, 1946, respecting sale on
December 1, 1945, of 500 shares of stock of the

United Drug, Inc. [12]

The Court : Received as Exhibit 5.

(Whereupon the document was marked Peti-

tioner's Exhibit No. 5 for identification and
received in evidence.)
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Mr. MacLean: I offer as Exhibit 6 report to

Securities and Exchange Commission by W. F.

Davis dated January 10, 1946, respecting purchase

on December 31, 1945, of 2,000 shares of stock of the

United Drug, Inc.

The Court : That is received as Exhibit 6.

(Whereupon the document was marked Peti-

tioner's Exhibit No. 6 for identification and

received in evidence.)

Mr. MacLean: I offer in evidence as Exhibit 7

photostat of letter from Securities and Exchange

Commission to George S. Hills, counsel for United

Drug, Inc., dated March 21, 1946.

The Court: It will be received as Exhibit 7.

(Whereupon the document was marked Peti-

tioner's Exhibit No. 7 for identification and

received in evidence.)

Mr. MacLean: I offer as Exhibit 8 a print of

notice of annual meeting of United Drug, Inc., for

May 14, 1946, proxy statement and proxy form, as

one exhibit.

The Court: That is received as one exhibit, Ex-

hibit 8. [13]

(Whereupon the docxmaent was marked Peti-

tioner's Exhibit No. 8 for identification and

received in evidence.)

Mr. MacLean: Mr. Davis, will you take the

stand, please?

The Court : Please swear in the witness.
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Whereupon

WILLIAM F. DAVIS, JR.
was called as a witness on behalf of the Petitioner
and, having been first duly sworn, testified as fol-
lows :

The Clerk: Please state your name and address,
Mr. Witness.

The Witness: William F. Davis, Jr., 740 South
Amalfi Drive, Pacific Palisades, California.

Direct Examination

By Mr. MacLean:

Q. What is your business, Mr. Davis?
A. I am an attorney, member of the California

and Massachusetts bars, general counsel of Rexall
Drug, Inc., and my firm name is Adams, Disque,
Davis and Hazeltine.

Q. What was your business in the taxable year
1946?

A. Vice president and general counsel of United
Drug Company and its subsidiary—or. United
Drug, Inc., and its subsidiary. United Drug Com-
pany. I was also a director of both companies. [14]

Q. Did you have any other business or occupa-
tion during 1946? A. I did not.

Q. What are the present names of the companies
that you just mentioned?

A. United Drug, Inc., is now known as Rexall
Drug, Inc.; and its subsidiary. United Drug Com-
pany, is now known as Rexall Drug Company.
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(Testimony of William F. Davis, Jr.)

Q. In what business were these companies en-

gaged during 1946?

A. United Drug, Inc., is a holding company.

United Drug Company, its principal subsidiary, is

both a holding and operating company, and it is

engaged in the manufacture and distribution of all

types of drugs and drug store merchandise all

through its many factories throughout the country,

and is engaged in the retail operation, through its

wholly owned retail stores—Eexall Stores in the

East, and Owl Drug Company in the West.

Q. Having approximately how many stores?

A. Approximately four hundred stores.

Q. When did you become general counsel?

A. January 1, 1936.

Q. When were you elected vice president of the

two companies? A. In 1941. [15]

Q. When were you elected director of the two

companies? A. In 1942.

Q. What was your annual rate of base salary I

A. $25,000 a year.

Q. State whether or not you devoted your full

time during 1946 to the duties of the positions and

offices that you have mentioned.

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Was that also true with respect to 1945 and

the years immediately preceding?

A. Yes, except for a period of approximately

fifteen months, when I was on active duty with the

United States Marine Corps.

Q. Have you ever been a stockholder of United

Drug, Inc., or United Drug Company?
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(Testimony of William F. Davis, Jr.)

A. Yes, of United Drug, Inc.; United Drug
Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of United
Drug, Inc. All of its stock is

I

Q. Would you be good enough to state your
investments in United Drug, Inc., stock through
1945?

A. Commencing in 1938, I purchased stock in
the United Drug, Inc., in the open market in small
lots, and also in 1939 and 1940; so at the end of
1940 I had acquired 1,000 shares. I continued this

same program in 1941 and 1942, and by the end of
that time I had acquired an additional 1,000 [16]
shares, making a total of 2,000 shares in all.

Q. Down until what day? 2,000 representing
the total until the end of 1945 ?

A. That is correct.

Q. On which date you exercised an option?

A. That^s right.

Q. Which we will refer to later. From 1938
through 1945, did you own any investments other

than those you have mentioned, in other companies,
or were your investments confined to the stock of

the United Drug, Inc., just mentioned?

A. This was the only stock I owned. I had a
few hundred dollars worth of Government Bonds
during that time.

Q. When did you go on active duty with the

Marines ? A. May 4, 1944.

Q. At that time, did you resign from the board,

or resign your position as vice president and gen-
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(Testimony of William F. Davis, Jr.)

eral counsel of United Drug, Inc., and/or United

Drug Company?

A. No. I was granted military leave.

Q. Did you remain on salary with the United

Drug while you were in the Marines?

A. Yes, but on a reduced basis.

Q. When did you resume your duties with the

company?

A. I returned to the States in October of 1945,

and was released from the Marines on October 17,

1945, and proceeded immediately to Boston and

resumed my duties within about a [17] week or so.

Q. Where was your home at that time?

A. In Arlington, Massachusetts, just outside of

Boston.

Q. When did you move to Los Angeles?

A. In the very first part of November, 1945.

Q. What was the occasion for that move?

A. In September of that year the directors of

the company had voted to transfer the headquarters

of United Drug Company from Boston to Los

Angeles. In fact, the move was three-quarters under

way when I returned from overseas, and it was

completed in December of that year. In order to

continue my position with the company it was

necessary for me to move to Los Angeles, where the

headquarters were located.

Q. Did you buy a home in Los Angeles, or did

you rent?

A. I wasn't able to rent. I bought a home there.

Q. Where?
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A. In Pacific Palisades, which is part of Los
Angeles.

Q. When did you buy it?

A. In November of 1945.

Q. At what cost?

A. Approximately $35,000.

Q. How did you finance that purchase?
A. I gave a mortgage for $12,000, and paid $23,-

000 of the balance from the proceeds of 1,000 shares
sale of United [18] Drug, Inc., stock.

^ . Q. Was that the same 1,000 shares you acquired
between 1938 and 1940? A. That is correct.

Q. These are the sales referred to in Paragraph
8 of the stipulation of facts, which I show you?

(Document handed to witness.)

A. Yes, they are.

Q. Did you sell those shares to the company?
A. No, indeed.

Q. Or a subsidiary?

A. No, indeed. I sold it on the stock exchange,
on the open market.

Q. At what prices did you sell those 1,000 shares ?

A. Most of the shares were sold for 25; 300
shares were sold for 263/8; 100 shares for 263/8;
and the remaining 100 out of the 1,000 at 261/4.

Q. The balance was sold at 25 ?

A. That is correct.

Q. Did you file reports with the SEC of such
sales ? A. Yes, I did, on Form 4.

Q. It is stipulated that on December 31, 1945,
you were entitled, under your stock option agree-
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ment, to purchase 2,000 shares of United Drug, Inc.,

stock. A. That is correct. [19]

Q. ' And under your option agreement with the

company you had been entitled to make such pur-

chases since when?

A. March 1, 1944, with respect to the first 1,000

Q. And with the respect to the other 1,000 ?

A. March 1, 1945.

Q On December 31 you exercised your option

to buy the 2,000 shares? A. That is correct.

Q What were the circumstances which prompted

you to exercise your option at that particular time?

A I was in Boston at the end of December of

that year on one of my many trips for the company

and while I was there I had a long-distance call

from Mr. Ellsworth Alvord of the firm of Alvord

and Alvord, who were the tax counsel for the com-

pany Mr. Alvord told me that he had understood

that the Treasury Department was about to issue

regulations under the Supreme Court decision m

the John Smith Case to the efCect that the exercise

of employees' stock options subsequent to January

1, 1946, would be regarded as resulting in ordmary

income to the optionee.

He strongly urged me-and through me to the

other executives of the company-to draw down

the maximum number of shares to which we were

entitled, before the expiration of that year.

It is my best recollection this was between Christ-

mas and [20] New Year's of 1945.
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Q. That you received that call ?

A. That is correct.

Q. What did you do then?

A. I returned to Los Angeles immediately and
communicated this advice to the president of the
company and to the other executives who came
under the stock option plan. As a consequence of
it all of the executives but one, as I recall it, in-

cluding myself, drew down the maximum number
of shares to which we were entitled under our re-

spective stock options.

Q. How many executives were under that option
arrangement? A. There were eight.

Q. Who exercised it?

A. I believe there were eight altogether, and I
think seven out of the eight exercised their option.

Q. At that time, were you familiar with the

provisions of Section 16 (b) of the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934? A. Yes, I was.

Q. State whether or not you then realized or

considered that the transactions in stock of the

United Drug Company which you have just de-

scribed, and which you personally engaged in, might
be considered a sale and purchase of stock within
the meaning of Section 16 (b) of that Act ?

A. It never occurred to me even remotely that

^7 [21] transaction was within the scope of Section

16 (b).

Q. Did you report the exercise of your option

to the SEC? A. Yes, I did.

Q. Will you state briefly the circumstances which
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led up to your payment of $12,659 to the company-

United Drug, Inc. ?

A. That payment was made in April, 1946. Near

the end of March of that year I was in Mexico City

on business for the company, when I received a call

from the Los Angeles headquarters of the company,

advising me that the Securities and Exchange Com-

mission, in reviewing the proxy material that they

had before them for release to the stockholders of

the United Drug, Inc., for its annual meeting, had

determined my sale of stock in October and De-

cember, 1945—stock which I had owned for five

years before that—and my subsequent exercise of

the option on December 31 of that same year, were

transactions within the scope of Section 16 (b),

and that these transactions would have to be set

forth in detail on the proxy material that was about

to be released for stockholders, or that I pay over

to the company the sum of $12,659.

Q. What did you do?

A. I returned to Los Angeles as soon as possible,

and' discussed the matter with the president and

treasurer and members of the executive [22]

committee.

I reminded them of the circumstances surround-

ing the exercise of our stock option, not only in my

own situation, but theirs as well; that in reliance

upon the advice of counsel we had exercised these

options at the end of 1945. I had acted in complete

good faith, and where my stock I had sold in Sep-

tember and October had been stock I had owned
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for a long period, beyond the six months—in the
exercise of my option in December, it could have
been exercised by me at any time prior to the time
I did—back in March of that year, with respect to
all of it, and March 1, 1944, with respect to 1,000
shares of it; and, it didn't seem to me possible that
my transaction could be the sort of a so-called

short-swing transaction that was prohibited by Sec-
tion 16 (b).

Q. What reply did you receive from the com-
pany ?

A. The company was faced with a very serious
problem at that time in connection with their an-
nual meeting. The proxy material had been filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission
awaiting their approval or disapproval, and it was
then to be printed, collated and distributed to some
20,000 stockholders, both here and abroad, in time
to get the proxies in for the annual meeting. They
also pointed out that any delay that went through
m meeting that deadline would seriously interfere
with the holding of the meeting, which wasn't very
attractive to the company, and they pointed out
that re-writing and re-printing the proxy material
would unnecessarily complicate [23] the solicitation
of proxies for the meeting, and requested that I pay
over to the company this sum of $12,659 to elimi-
nate the necessity of going through all that diffi-

culty in connection with the meeting.

Under the circumstances, it seemed that I had no
alternative but to pay over the money, which I did.
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Q. Was there a formal demand made?

A. Yes. After this discussion I received a

formal demand from the treasurer of the company

to make this payment, and I subsequently gave him

my certified check.

Q. But so far as the SEC was concerned, it is

a fact, is it not, that the company's proxy material

would have been approved if it had contained a

statement setting forth transactions

Mr. Eogers : I object, your Honor. It is a lead-

ing question. I don't think either of them know

what SEC would or would not have done.

The Court: Before ruling on the objection,

would you kindly read Mr. MacLean's question as

far as he went, and then, Mr. MacLean, you may

finish the question, and I will rule on your objec-

tion.

(Whereupon the pending question was read

by the Reporter.)

Mr. MacLean: I will withdraw that [24] ques-

tion.

Q. (By Mr. MacLean): Please state whether

or not, if you know, the SEC was willing to pass

a proxy statement which set forth the facts with

respect to your sale and purchase of United Drug,

Inc., stock?

A. Yes. I do know that for a fact. The SEC

was willing to approve proxy material if we set

forth in detail the transactions which I have just

described.

Mr. Eogers: I am still hazy, your Honor. If it
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is a question of what the SEC did approve, then
that is something I am sure he can testify on; but
as to the question of what they would approve, I
don't think any of us know the answer to that.

Mr. MacLean: I submit, your Honor, this wit-

ness is in a position to know what alternatives the
SEC tendered the company—whether to put out a
proxy statement that set forth the facts, including
the right to recover against Davis, or the possible
right to recover against Davis, or to let them send
out a proxy statement with no reference to pay-
ment by Mr. Davis.

The Court: Rather than argue this matter at
this time, may I just ask the Reporter to put a
mark at this place so that we may come back to it?

I think in order to clear up the matter of a pos-
sible objection to the question and the answer we
will have to stop for a few minutes to look at the
proxy itself, that is, the proxy agreement. [25]
Mr. MacLean: Which is Exhibit 8.

The Court
: And that will mean interrupting the

direct examination. I understand that you have an
objection to the question and the answer. Is that
correct ?

Mr. Rogers: Yes, your Honor.
The Court: Very well. The record will show

that, and we will return to this matter and take
care of it, and I will rule on that objection later. I
would rather do that than interrupt the direct ex-
amination.

Is that agreeable, Mr. Rogers?
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Mr. Eogers: Yes, your Honor.

The Court: Thank you for yielding in that way

at this time.

Now, will you proceed, please, Mr. MacLeanI

Q. (By Mr. MacLean) : Mr. Davis, please state

whether or not the executive committee informed

you as to their willingness or unwillingness to in-

clude a statement in the proxy material regarding

your sales and purchases, and the possible claim

against you of the company or its stockholders un-

der Section 16 (b).

A. They made it very clear to me they didn't

want to have the proxy material cluttered up with

the details of my transaction.

Q. The amount of $12,659 which you paid over

to the company—how was that computed? [26]

A. That figure was arrived at by subtracting

from the money I received from the sale of the

stock in October and December 1 of that year—

which was $25,441.50—the amount that I paid for

1,000 shares of my option stock, or $12,782.50,

which left a remainder of $12,659.

Q. Have you ever been reimbursed for the pay-

ment by you to United Drug, Inc.?

A. I have not.

Mr. MacLean: I understand, Mr. Rogers, you

are going to offer the 1945 annual meeting proxy

material ?

Mr. Rogers: That's right. 1945, 1947 and 8.

Q. (By Mr. MacLean) : After the exercise of

your option to purchase 2,000 shares on December
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31, 1945, did you ever subsequently exercise any
of the rights remaining to you under the stock
option agreement ?

A. Yes, I did. On March 7, 1946, I drew down
1,000 shares under the option, and on March 1,

1947, I drew down 1,000 shares under the option.
The stock had been split at that time and it was
2,000 shares.

Q. The stock was split at what time?
A. In June, 1946, it was split two for one.

Q. So that in the exercise of your rights under
the option you purchased 2,000 of the split shares
in March, 1947? A. That is correct. [27]

Q. Was the price split, too?

A. Yes. It became 63/8, where it had been 123^4.

Q. Did you ever make any further purchases of
United Drug, Inc., stock? A. No, I did not.

Q. What funds did you use to pay for the
United Drug stock that you purchased under the
option? A. I borrowed money.

Q. What was the security for the loan?
A. United Drug Company stock at that time.

Q. Was that always so, or did you put up
• A. No. I think it was in May, 1947, the bank
in Los Angeles that had the loan wanted more col-
lateral.

Q. Did you supply it? A. Yes, I did.

Q. How much ?

A. Approximately $21,000 worth of other securi-
ties that I bought in the open market at that time
for that purpose.
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Q. Was that your first investment in securities

of other companies? A. Yes, it was.

Q. When was the first sale that you made of

United Drug stock after the sales aggregating 1,000

shares which you made in October and December

of 1945, to which you testified?

A. In October of 1947. [28]

Q. How much did you sell at that time?

A. I sold 2,400 shares at that time.

Q. Of the split-up stock?

A. That's right.

Q. At what prices were those sales made?

A. 400 shares were sold for 8%; 1,00Q shares at

81/2; and then another 1,000 shares at 81/2.

Q. What was the reason for such sales?

A. The bank wanted more collateral for the

loan, and I didn't have any, so I sold the stock to

reduce the loan and collateralize it to the satisfac-

tion of the bank.

Q. When did you next sell shares in the United

Drug, Inc.? A. In June of 1948.

Q. How many shares at that time?

A. On June 8th I sold

Q. What was the aggregate, if you will give me

that? A. 7,400 shares.

Q. Of the split-up stock?

A. Yes. That is on the split-up basis.

Q. Those sales were made when?

A. June 8, 1948, I sold 3,300 shares at 634. On

June 9, 1,000 shares at 6%, and 1,000 shares at 7.

On June 14th I sold 500 shares at 7%, 500 shares
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at 7, 400 shares at TVs, and 300 shares at 7. On
June 18th, 400 [29] shares at 6%.

Q. How many shares did those sales leave you
with, Mr. Davis?

A. That exhausted all of my United Drug Com-
pany stock, except for 100 shares, and another 100
shares I had given to Boston University in Decem-
ber of the previous year.

Q. What was the occasion for the sales which
you made in June, 1948?

A. Again, the bank wanted more collateral, and
I didn't have any. By that time I carried the loan
with the bank on the optioned stock for quite a
while at substantial interest rates, and I had gotten
pretty much to the point where the whole option
plan turned out to be a snare and a delusion, and
I wanted to get out of it, so I instructed the bank
to sell the collateral I had and paid off the loan,
and that was the end of the option.

Mr. MacLean: Tour witness, Mr. Rogers.
The Court: At this time, and before you begin

your cross-examination, we will take a brief recess
for the Reporter, please.

(Whereupon a recess was had.)

The Court: Will you please proceed with cross-

examination, Mr. Rogers ?

Mr. Rogers: Yes, your Honor. Before doing
that, would it be in order for my brother and I at
this time to put [30] into the record some prices on
which we have agreed?

The Court: Yes.
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Mr. Kogers: It was too late for us to stipulate

these, your Honor.

The Court: Yes, sir. You may stipulate that

now.

Mr. MacLean: Go ahead.

Mr. Rogers: The average price on February 14,

1944^we agreed that the average price of this

United Drug, Inc., stock was $12.75.

Mr. MacLean: On the New York Stock Ex-

change.

Mr. Rogers: On the New York Stock Exchange

;

and then, on February 15, 1944, taking the high

and low and closing price—the high was ISi/g; the

low was 12%; and the closing price 1278-

On February 16, 1944, the high was ISi/g; the

low was 12%; and the closing price was ISi/g.

Mr. MacLean : It is so stipulated.

Mr. Rogers: I have here to be offered in evi-

dence, your Honor, the 1945 and 1946 returns. Do

you want me to offer them now or later—the re-

turns, your Honor?

The Court : You may do that.

Mr. Rogers: I have the 1945 and 1946 returns.

Do you want them to go in as one exhibit, your

Honor?

The Court: I think it is better to have them as

separate exhibits. The 1945 return, without objec-

tion [31]

Mr. MacLean: No objection.

The Court (Continuing): is received as

Respondent's Exhibit A.
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(Whereupon the document was marked Re-
spondent's Exhibit A for identification and re-

ceived in evidence.)

The Court: The 1946 return is received as Re-
spondent's Exhibit B.

Mr. MacLean: No objection.

(Whereupon the document was marked Re-
spondent's Exhibit B for identification and re-

ceived in evidence.)

Mr. Rogers: There is an amended return at-

tached to the 1945, your Honor. May I ask leave to

withdraw those to have photostats made?
The Court

: You may withdraw the exhibits and
make photostatic copies, and substitute photostats.

Cross-Examination

By Mr. Rogers:

Q. Mr. Davis, I want to show you what pur-
ports to be a photostatic copy of the check pur-
porting to have been signed by you, and I want to
see if you recognize your signature.

(Document handed to witness.)

A. Yes. That is my signature.

Q. What is the amount of that check? [32]
A. $12,659.

Q. To whom did you make that check payable?
A. United Drug, Inc.

Q. On what date? A. April 8, 1946.
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Mr. Rogers: Thank you. I would like to offer

this check in evidence, yonr Honor, or a photostatic

copy thereof.

The Court: Is there any objection?

Mr. MacLean: No objection.

The Court: The check is received as Respond-

ent's Exhibit C.

(Whereupon the document was marked Re-

spondent's Exhibit C for identification and re-

ceived in evidence.)

Q. (By Mr. Rogers): Mr. Davis, when you

gave this $12,659 back by means of this certified

check to the corporation, why did you do it?

Mr. MacLean: Your Honor, I object to the form

of the question. It assumes that Mr. Davis gave

something back. Mr. Davis made a payment over

to the company of $12,659.

Mr. Rogers : All right. I will accept that. I will

change my question.

Q. (By Mr. Rogers) : Why did you make out

this* check for $12,659, to [33] the United Drug

Company?

A. I had a formal demand from the treasurer

of the company to pay over that sum to them, fol-

lowing the communication from the Securities and

Exchange Commission.

Q. When you made that payment, am I to take

it that you did it under protest? Was that the only

reason you made that payment, simply because the

company said, "Here, you give me $12,659"?
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A. The company made the demand, and I was
an officer and director of the company.

Q. Do you usually do that when people ask you
to give them $12,659? Do you just give it back
without any reason, just because they ask you?
Mr. MacLean: I object to the form of the ques-

tion, on giving it back to the company.
Mr. Rogers: All right. Pay over.

The Witness: There was a good deal more in-
volved than that. I testified to the reasons that sur-
rounded my making that payment over to the
company. The position that the company was in
with respect to getting out their proxy material on
the annual meeting and the fact that they made
it very clear that they didn't want to extend the
deadline for the printing, the collating and dis-
tributing of their proxies. Of course, I was well
aware of the problem I was causing others there
in getting out their proxies for the [34] annual
meeting, and I had no alternative but to pay it

over. They made it pretty clear they wanted it done.
Q. (By Mr. Rogers): The company made it

clear to you they wanted it done? You said when
you were under direct examination that you talked
about the fact that you didn't want to clutter up
the proxy. What did you mean by that—you didn't
want to clutter up the proxy?

A. Perhaps that was a loose phrase, but let me
state it another way: The proxy material was aU
prepared and had been distributed to the Securities
and Exchange Commission for their study, and the
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ten-day waiting period, after which it can be mailed

and distributed to stockholders. To incorporate at

that time the details of my stock transaction m Oc-

tober and December of 1945, and the exercise of my

option in 1945, would, as I recall it, have necessi-

tated another half a page of that proxy material,

which would have meant recasting it and resubmit-

ting it, which would have extended our deadline

another ten days.

Q. Do you think that is cluttering up the proxy,

to unfold the truth to stockholders as to exactly

what goes on under 16 (b) ?

A. I don't understand that question.

Q. Do you think it is cluttering up the proxy to

tell the stockholders exactly how you obtained this

stock on [35] December 31, 1945?

A. I don't know it makes much difference what

I thought about it anyway. The company did not

want to have that additional material because it

would make for delay and it would complicate so-

licitation of the proxy.

Q. I want to show you what purports to be a

copy of the 1945 proxy.

(Document handed to witness.)

Q. (Continuing) : This is the 1945 proxy, your

Honor, and I wanted to show you that and see if

you recognize that instrument.

A. Yes, that is it.

The Court: That is an exhibit in this proceed-

ing, is it?
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Mr. Rogers: Not yet, your Honor. I hope to

offer it.

The Court: I think you might have it marked
for identification then.

Mr. Rogers : Yes, your Honor.
The Clerk: Exhibit D for identification.

(Whereupon the document was marked Re-
spondent's Exhibit D for identification.)

Mr. Rogers : There are two copies.

Q. (By Mr. Rogers) : Will you tell me what
that instrument purports to [36] be, Mr. Davis?
A. Yes. The top sheet here is the notice of the

annual meeting of stockholders, called a notice for
April 10, 1945. That is followed with several pages
of the proxy statement that accompanied that proxy
statement.

Q. Does that proxy statement contain the pic-

ture with regard to this option ?

A. Yes. Item 5 on the last page of the proxy
statement describes in some detail the option.

Mr. Rogers: Thank you. Your Honor, I would
like to offer these in evidence.

Mr. MacLean: No objection.

The Court: The documents which have been of-

fered are received in evidence as Respondent's Ex-
hibit D.

(Whereupon the docmnents marked Re-
spondent's Exhibit D were received in evi-

dence.)
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Mr. Kogers: I would like these documents, that

purport to be copies of the 1947 and 1948 proxies

to be marked for identification.

The Clerk: Exhibits E and F for identification.

(Whereupon the documents were marked Re-

spondent's Exhibits E and F for identifica-

tion.)

Q. (By Mr. Rogers): I show you what pur-

ports to be a copy of your notice of annual meeting.

Will you identify that, please? In 1947. [37]

(Document handed to witness.)

A. Yes. This is the notice of the annual meet-

inglnotice for May 6, 1947, annual meeting of

stockholders of the United Drug Company.

Q. Turning to the attached proxy statement,

does that contain a true picture as regards the ex-

ercise of the option here?

A. Yes. Item 7 of the proxy material states the

details with respect to the option.

Mr. Rogers: I thank you. Your Honor, I would

like to offer this in evidence.

Mr. MacLean: May I ask Mr. Rogers what pur-

pose the 1947—and I take it you are about to offer

the 1948—document has?

Mr. Rogers: The purpose is the same in that I

objected to your examination with respect to the

years 1947 and 1948. I think since 16 (b) is being

discussed here, we want to have the complete se-

quence of events.
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I
Mr. MacLean: With respect to the exercise of

the option?

Mr. Rogers: That's right.

Mr. MacLean: By Mr. Davis and the others?
Mr. Eogers: That's right.

Mr. MacLean
: I have no objection if it is offered

for that purpose. [38]

The Court: The document marked for identifi-

cation as Exhibit E is received in evidence as Ex-
hibit E, and the document marked for identification
as Exhibit F is received as Exhibit F.

(Whereupon the documents marked Re-
spondent's Exhibits E and F, respectively, for
identification were received in evidence.)

Q. (By Mr. Rogers): Finally, I am showing
him the 1948 notice of annual meeting and the
proxy notice. Will you identify that, please?

(Document handed to witness.)

A. This is the notice of annual meeting of stock-

holders—notice for May 4, 1948, accompanied by
the proxy statement and proxies.

Q. All right. Does that contain a true picture
there with respect to the exercise of the option?

A. Yes. Item 1 of Part IV of the proxy state-

ment describes the option plan.

Mr. Rogers: Your Honor, I offer this in evi-

dence.

Mr. MacLean: Is that offered for the same pur-
pose?
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Mr. Rogers: Yes.

Mr. MacLean: No objection.

The Court: Has that been marked for identifica-

tion?

The Clerk: This is marked as Exhibit F, your

Honor, and I believe it has been received. [39]

The Court: I didn't understand before you were

not offering that as an exhibit along with Exhibit

E. I now receive it for the second time in evi-

dence.

Mr. Rogers: I am sorry, your Honor. I slipped

on that.

The Court: That exhibit is received.

Q. (By Mr. Rogers) : On that $12,659, when

was that money first your property? When was it

first in your hands, and when did you first realize

it as income?

Mr. MacLean: I would like to have a foundation

laid for the question of when Mr. Davis realized

any income with respect to that particular amount

of money.

The Court: I think the question isn't exactly

clear. May I inquire of you for the Court's infor-

mation what you mean by that question?

As I understand the facts, you are referring now

in your question to 1946. Is that correct?

Mr. Rogers: Yes, your Honor. Maybe if I ask

him a few questions, I think it would bring the pic-

ture out.

The Court: May I ask you another question,

then? Are you referring to the Petitioner's sale
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of the original stock which he had purchased, or are
you referring now to the purchases of stock under
option? Which part of this transaction have you
in mind at this time? [40]
Mr. Eogers: I have the first part, your Honor,

where he sold the 1,000 shares.

The Court: Well, your question is, at what time
did he consider that he had realized income from
a sale?

Mr. Rogers: When did he report-first of all, Iam trying to do it by question and answer, and' if
I could ask him two or three questions, on what he
did on October 25, and what he did on December 1
and what he did on December 31, then I could lead
into this question.

The Court: Very well. If you only have the
problem of asking your direct questions, instead of
trying to cover everything in one question—which
It is better to do under the usual cross-examination
—then you can just proceed.

Mr. MacLean: I would like to point out, these
questions are covered by the material in the stipu-
lation. Paragraphs 8 and 9, as to what was done on
those questions.

Mr. Rogers
:

Yes, but the point is, unless I am
allowed to help your Honor to see the picture
clearly—this is a very important question I want to
ask.

The Court: I understand it. There is no objec-
tion to your rephrasing the question.
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Mr. MacLean: No objection.

The Court: Will you please proceed then to ask

the several questions you have in mind? [41]

Q. (By Mr. Rogers) : As I understand it, you

realized, or you sold 1,000 shares of stock in Oc-

tober and November, and reported income of $25,-

000. Is that correct?

A. I sold shares in October and December. De-

cember 1, 1945.

Q. How much income did you report?

A. I reported the sale.

Q. You reported the sale ?

A. That's right.

Q. How much did you report?

The Court: May I ask you, Mr. Rogers, whether

you are asking the witness about whether he re-

ported his sale to the SEC, or to his directors, or

to the Commissioner of Internal Revenue?

Mr. Rogers : I mean to the Commissioner of In-

ternal Revenue, your Honor.

The Court: The return is in evidence, isn't it?

Mr. Rogers: Yes, your Honor.

The Court: Wouldn't the item speak for itself

in the return?

Mr. Rogers: Yes, your Honor.

The Court: Now, let us look in at Respondent's

Exhibit B. Is that correct? Which is the return

for 1946.

Mr. MacLean: It should be the return for 1945.

The Court: Thank you, Mr. MacLean, very
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much. I [42] believe the item you have in mind,
Mr. Rogers, is reported in the schedule of long-

term capital gains and losses. Assets held for more
than six months, 1,000 shares United Drug, Inc.,

purchased 1938-1940, sold 1945. Reported sales

price, gross, $25,441.50. Cost or other basis,

$4,971.88. Gain, $20,469.62. Gain to be taken into

account, $10,234.81.

Now, in order that I may understand your ques-
tion, I assume that you are laying a foundation for

something to follow, by asking the witness how he
reported that transaction?

Mr. Rogers: That's right, your Honor.
The Court: And he reported that in his return

for 1945, which he filed in Los Angeles on February
13, 1946. Now, Mr. Witness, you recall that you
reported this item in your income tax return, and
the Court shows you Exhibit A, your 1945 income
tax return. That clears that up.

Now, what is the next question?

Q. (By Mr. Rogers) : The second part of the

picture is, tell us in your own words what you did
on December 31, 1945—the second part of this

transaction ?

The Court: This is just, as I understand it, a
repetition of some of the facts that have been stipu-

lated. Counsel is laying a foundation for some
question to follow.

The Witness : I drew down these shares to which
I [43] was entitled to under my stock option con-
tract.

I
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)

Q. (By Mr. Rogers) : That's right, and at that

time you said you had no idea of 16 (b). You didn't

think you were violating any law?

A. Yes, sir. That is correct.

Q. Then, when it came to April 8, 1946, you had

just received a letter from SEC. Is that correct?

A. Well, there had been not only letters, but a

number of telephone calls.

Q. That's right. And when you received that

letter, then three months later you then made out

this check. Is that correct?

A. It didn't follow quite in that order. I got the

first message when I was in Mexico City, as I have

already testified. That was a long-distance tele-

phone call of the information that had come from

the Securities and Exchange Commission.

I then returned to Los Angeles and discussed the

matter at length for a matter of a week or ten days

with the officers of the company, and with George

Hills, who was acting as our outside counsel at that

time.

Q. That is fine. When you discussed this with

the officers of the company, you say you discussed

this with counsel? A. That's right. [44]

Q. Did 16 (b) then come into your mind?

A. Very definitely, because that was the occasion

for the whole thing.

Q. Fine. Then you took this $12,659 payment by

check and gave it to the company?

Mr. MacLean: And made it to the corporation.
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Mr. Rogers: All right. Made the check to the
corporation.

The Witness: Yes. That is correct.

Q. (By Mr. Rogers) : Have you ever appealed
this matter in any way to the corporation? Have
you ever protested it? You never protested it to the
corporation? A. We discussed it at length.

Q. Have you ever appealed this 16 (b) question
in the Federal Courts ? A. No.

Q. So that then what you are doing now is, you
are coming into the Tax Court of the United States
and asking the Tax Court of the United States to
pass upon the question as to whether or not this is

a 16 (b) profit?

Mr. MacLean: I object to that question as call-

ing for a legal conclusion. We are asking to be
allowed a deduction for this amount paid to the
company.

The Court: The objection is sustained. The [45]
question is quite argumentative, I should think, Mr.
Rogers. That is something you may very well argue
on your brief.

Mr. Rogers: We are going to argue that on
brief, your Honor, but in fairness to the Court, that
is one of the issues here. Our point is, he is trying
to claim in his 1946 year as a tax deduction some-
thing that has already been passed upon, or he prac-
tically admitted, as a 16 (b) profit.

Mr. MacLean: Your Honor, I submit that is a
legal question, as you have ruled, and not something
for the witness to testify on.
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The Court: The objection is sustained, Mr. Mac-

Lean.

Mr. Rogers : Your Honor, this is the letter which

was sent out by SEC, which I am going to show to

the witness.

Q. (By Mr. Rogers): I show you this letter,

and will you identify it?

(Document handed to witness.)

A. Yes. This is a photo-print of a letter ad-

dressed to George S. Hills, who was counsel for the

company at that time, from the Securities and

Exchange Commission, dated March 21, 1946.

Q. And it is signed by whom?

A. Perry Heller, Assistant Director, Corpora-

tion Finance Division.

Q. When that letter was received by the com-

pany, what followed that? [46]

A. This letter was received by George Hills. A

copy was sent to the company.

Q. What happened when the company received

that letter from SEC?

A. They got in touch with me in Mexico City.

Q. Yes, and then you did what?

A. I got back to Los Angeles just as soon as I

could—in a day or two.

Q. Yes, and then you conferred with the counsel

and the directors?

A. The president and the directors.

Q. And you decided to do what?

A. To pay $12,659 over to the company.
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Q. Did you feel that any injustice was being
done to you then? A. Certainly.

Q. You did? A. Yes.

Q. Did you ever express that feeling in any way
to the SEC?

A. I had no talk myself with the SEC, but I am
very sure Mr. Hills, on my behalf, did.

Q. You just felt a sort of silent resentment and
you paid back $12,659 without protesting to any-
body. Isn't that correct? [47]
A. I don't think it was very silent, Mr. Rogers.

Q. Well, to whom did you register this objection
and put it on record? Did you either do it in court,
or on record with SEC?
A. I had no talk with the SEC. All talks

Q. You had no talk with SEC?
Mr. MacLean: May he complete the answer to

the question, so the stenographer can get it?

Mr. Rogers: Proceed.

The Witness: I hadn't finished my sentence.

Mr. Rogers : I am sorry.

The Witness: But there were discussions with
the SEC on my behalf by George S. Hills, who was
outside counsel for the company.

Q. (By Mr. Rogers) : Have you any records of
those discussions? A. I haven't any records.

Q. Have you called any witnesses to testify to

these discussions? A. No.

Q. Then as far as this court knows then, you
responded to this letter that was sent out by SEC
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by paying over the $12,659 to the corporation, and

you let it drop at that. Isn't that correct?

Mr. MacLean: I submit, your Honor, that the

record [48] speaks for itself as to what it shows.

The Court: If that is an objection, I will over-

rule the objection and ask the witness please to

answer the question as best as he can answer it.

The question calls for an explanation on your part,

and you can give a full explanation.

Will you read the question, please ?

(Whereupon the pending question was read

by the reporter.)

The Witness: No. Let me try to answer your

question in parts, because there seems to be two or

three parts to it. First, in addition to the letter

from the SEC, there was a formal demand made

upon me by the treasurer of the company to pay

over this money, and as a consequence of that, and

the situation the company was in, I did make the

payment. With respect to letting the matter drop,

if you mean by that, did I bring action to get the

money, or anything of that kind, no. Nothmg

further was done.

Q (By Mr. Rogers) : Tell me, Mr. Davis, do

you think it is a good bargain to sell 1,000 shares

of stock for $25,000, and then to buy 1,000 shares

of the same stock for approximately half that price?

Do you think that is a good bargain?

A. Why, I suppose it is, if you mean my option

stock? It is more or less the purpose of the option

plan. [49]
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Q. That's right. Your option stock.

_ A. That's right.

P Q. Whether it is done by option, or whether it
IS done on a straight repurchase, it is a good bar-
gain, lou will admit that?
A. I would think so.

Mr. Rogers: Fine. Thank you. That is all.
Mr. MacLean: No further questions.
The Court: Mr. Davis, reference has been made

to Mr. George S. Hills. I believe you say he was
outside counsel for the company. You have testified
that you were general counsel for the company
Now, the record may be clear on that, but do I
understand that during 1945 and 1946 vou were
general counsel for the United Drug Company?
The Witness: That is correct, your Honor.
The Court: May I ask you to make it clear who

Mr. George S. Hills was?
The Witness: Yes. Mr. Hills, your Honor, was

a partner in the former firm of Rogers, Hoge and
Hills of New York, and they were—and for the
preceding several years—we had engaged that firm,
particularly Mr. Hills, in connection with our proxy
material, and also in connection with certain trade-
mark items. But, Mr. Hills had had a great deal
of experience with the SEC on proxy materials
with companies that were at one time associated
with United-Sterling [50] Drug Company, and
Bristol-Meyers, and Vick Chemical Company were
all at one time associated with United Drug Com-
pany—and because of his experience in getting
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proxy materials properly presented to the Securi-

ties and Exchange Commission, the company had

had him handle our proxy material for that year

and the preceding two or three years, and some

trade-mark items that his firm handled for us. That

was all their firm did.

I was still at that time completely in charge of

the legal affairs of the company as general counsel.

The Court: The Court would like to ask the

witness some questions, and if counsel has any

objection or can assist the Court, I would appre-

ciate it very much if you gave us such support in

this matter.

Certain facts have been stipulated, and several

exhibits attached to the stipulation have been re-

ceived in evidence, and the Court has not had an

opportunity to read over the exhibits.

There is also a matter pending relating to Ex-

hibit 8. Objection was made to a question that was

asked during the direct examination, and I said

that I would not interrupt the direct examination

and we would go back to it later. So, the questions

that I have in mind I think may be answered by

some of these exhibits, but before we conclude the

trial, it might be helpful to the Court to inquire a

little' bit about [51] certain matters with this wit-

ness, who is general counsel for the corporation, and

so has a good understanding of the arrangements

that were made for giving officers of the company

options.

Mr. MacLean: Certainly, your Honor.
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y J^^^
^^'''^*= I ^^ant to get this clear in my mind

P We understand, of course, what an option to pur-
chase stock IS, and we understand that there is a
not uncommon practice of companies adopting a
plan under which officers, and sometimes employees
are given an option to purchase stock of the com-
pany at a price stated in the option. Now, in this
proceeding apparently there was an option plan
You have referred to it, Mr. Davis, in your own
testimony.

The Witness: That is correct, your Honor.
The Court

:
Now, will you state briefly what the

option plan was under which you purchased some
stock m exercise of an option and made that pur-
chase at the end of 1945? Would you like to refer
to any exhibit for that?

Mr. MacLean: Would you like the stipulation^
The Witness: Yes.

(Document handed to witness.)

The Witness: If your Honor please. The direc-
tors of the parent company, United Drug, Inc.,
determined that it would be a good thing for the
operating company or executives to have a stock
option plan. Accordingly, a committee was [52]
appointed by the Board of Directors to formulate
such a plan, known as the Stock Option Committee.
The Court: When was that committee ap-

pointed?

The Witness
:

I believe it was arranged early in
1944.
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Mr. MacLean: 1943, I believe it is.

The Witness: That is correct. The appointment

of the committee was made in 1943, and they made

their report early in 1944. That was followed by

appropriate vote of the Board of Directors, and the

Stock Option Committee were authorized to select

the executives of the company to participate under

the plan, and were further authorized to fix the

price at which the stock would be purchased. That

price was fixed at the average price on the close of

the New York Stock Exchange on the day preced-

ing the day the plan was put into effect.

It was put into effect on February 15, 1944, and

the average price on the New York Stock Exchange

of the stock on the day preceding was 123^, and

that became the option price.

Under the terms of the option contract which

each of us were granted, we were entitled—we had

varying amounts of stock which we could draw

down. In my case it was a total of 5,000 shares,

and my first right accrued on March 1, 1944, and

the next one was March 1, 1945, 1,000 shares; and

on [53] March 1 of each succeeding year, until 5,000

shares had been drawn down.

In the case of the president of the company, it

was 15,000 shares, I think, and in some 1,000, and

in some 2,000 shares.

The Court: May I ask you a question there,

please? When did you have to exercise the option

to draw down each portion of the total that you

were allowed?
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The Witness: On or after March 1, 1944, and

prior to March 1, 1949, with respect to the first

thousand. With respect to the second thousand it

was on or after March 1, 1945, and prior to March

1, 1950. The third thousand was on or after March

1, 1946, and prior to March 1, 1951. The next one

was on or after March 1, 1947, and prior to March

1, 1952. The last one was on or after March 1, 1948,

and prior to March 1, 1953.

The Court: When you purchased stock under

your option at the end of 1945, which option were

you exercising?

The Witness: It would be my first and second,

because the first one could have been exercised on

March 1, 1944, with respect to the 1,000 shares, and

the second one on March 1, 1945, with respect to

1,000 shares, and on December 31 I drew down both

1,000 shares, or 2,000 shares, as did all the other

executives under the plan, except one. Why he

didn't, I don't recall, but seven out of the eight

did. [54]

The Court: Now I am going to ask your counsel

a question.

Mr. MacLean, we had here an option plan adopted

by the directors, I expect, of the corporation. Is

that right?

Mr. MacLean: That's right, and reported to the

stockholders.

The Court: Did the stockholders have to ap-

prove it?

Mr. MacLean: No.
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The Court: If an officer of the corporation who

came nnder this plan didn't have any of the United

Drug Company stock and didn't go out into the

market and sell some stock that he had, but exer-

cised his option to buy some stock of the company

imder this option plan, under those facts no ques-

tion would arise under Section 16 (b) of the SEC

Act?

Mr. MacLean: None at all, your Honor.

The Court: Very well. Now, how many officers

were covered by this plan?

The Witness: As I recall it, your Honor, there

were eight.

Mr. MacLean: Eight to ten, to my recollection.

The Court: Are you the only officer of the cor-

poration who found himself in the position of

having entered into a transaction or transactions

which came within the scope of 16 (b) of the SEC,

or are there other officers of the corporation? [55]

The Witness: No. I was the only one, your

Honor, because I made a sale in October.

The Court: As general counsel for the corpora-

tion, were you aware of the provisions of 16 (b) of

the SEC?
The Witness: Yes, I was, your Honor, but I

didn't believe this transaction was illegal. It never

occurred to me it was, because it was option stock.

The Court : Because the stock you were purchas-

ing was option stock?

The Witness: Yes, and by which I could have

purchased as much as ten months ahead, with re-
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spect to half of it, and a year and ten months with
respect to the other half of it, going back to March
of 1944.

The Court: Now you are mentioning some dates.
When was the provision that is so important here—
16 (b) of the SEC Act—enacted?
Mr. MacLean: In the Securities and Exchange

Act of 1934, your Honor.

I
The Court

:
It was not a statutory provision that

was enacted within a close time of this transaction?
Mr. MacLean

:
It had been in for approximately

ten years.

The Court: You testified you received advice
when you were in Mexico City that the problem
had come up in connection with the sale of your
original stock in the exercise [56] of your option
to buy stock under the option plan, and it isn't
quite clear to the Court how you happened to re-
ceive that advice or from whom you received it. Let
me ask you to assume facts of this kind: The cor-
poration has an outside counsel. Some matters are
referred to him, and let us assume that he, in carry-
ing out his duties as counsel, says, ''Now, look here.
Have you reported this matter to the SEC? You
are supposed to.''

So a report is made and then some ruling comes
from the Securities and Exchange Commission.
After a ruling has been made, then the officer of the
corporation who is affected by the ruling is advised.
Now, I am assuming some facts of this kind as
being probably typical of the way in which a person
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in your position would get some advice of this kind.

Now I can come to my question.

Can you tell the Court any more than you have

already covered in your testimony, as to how a

ruling came from the SEC, and more of the details

about it, and the purpose of the question is this:

You have been asked on cross-examination questions

that deal in general with the hypothesis that you

were called upon to do something which you could

have resisted, but failed to resist, and having failed

to resist, you now are in a rather unexplainable

position, so far as a tax item is concerned. Those

questions have been asked you and you have an-

swered them, of course. I assume you answered

them as fully [57] as you can, but I believe you

might be able to supplement your answers by ex-

plaining a little bit more of what I would call the

mechanics that were involved; and, even though my

question is extended by my saying any more, I want

you to understand why I am asking you the ques-

tion. You were the general counsel, but you were

not handling this particular matter, so you may not

know how it was handled, but if you do know how

it was handled, tell the Court how a matter of this

kind was handled, and go into as much detail as

you care to go into and can go into.

The Witness: I would be very glad to, your

Honor. Perhaps it is best to start at this point. I

have already testified in connection with my sales.

I filed and filled out what are known as Forms 4,

which are required by officers and directors of listed
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corporations to file with the SEC. In other words,
the law requires, or regulations require that this
information with respect to any sale or any pur-
chase be filed with them within ten days of the
following month, and at the appropriate time in
each case I filed the appropriate forms, and made
full disclosure to the SEC, so it wasn't a question
of my not making a full disclosure to them, or
proper reports, but it was because of those reports
I had filed that when the time came to approve the
company's proxy material, Mr. Heller, checking our
particular file for the SEC, checked my Form 4
for the proxy statement, which indicated I had [58]
exercised along with others my stock option.

Then it brought to his mind, ^^This is a 16 (b)

problem," which, frankly, is the first time that par-
ticular situation had ever occurred to anyone as
being a 16 (b) problem.

As a consequence, the company having filed with
the SEC this proxy material for examination before
it can be sent to stockholders, and in the process of
making that examination, this so-called deficiency

was brought to light with respect to the Forms 4
that I had filed, and the proxy material, which
showed I had exercised my option.

The Court: Now I will have to interrupt you,
because you have now mentioned something that is

going to be the subject of the next and last question
the Court wishes to ask you. Reference has been
made to proxy material.

The Witness: Yes.
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The Court: What have we in evidence on that?

We have Exhibit F. Of course, we know what is

ordinarily covered by a proxy that is sent to stock-

holders along with the rest of the annual meeting.

The Witness: It is a proxy statement, your

Honor, I had in mind.

The Court: But ordinarily the material that is

covered in a proxy that goes to stockholders before

an annual meeting of a corporation, more or less

sets forth the agenda [59] of the meeting to be

held, and asks the stockholders to sign the proxy,

which gives the stockholders' vote to a proxy. If

the proxy statement doesn't cover the agenda of

the meeting, then it is a general form or general

authorization to a proxy to vote this stock of the

person who signs the proxy.

Apparently that isn't what you are talking about

here at all. You are talking about a proxy state-

ment or proxy material.

The Witness: That's right.

The Court: Then you have to remember there

is another custom that is followed, that prior to the

annual meeting of the stockholders, or maybe the

annual meeting of the directors of the corporation,

a report is made to the stockholders that sets forth

the financial position of the corporation and a finan-

cial statement, with assets and liabilities, and the

progress of the business during the year, and profits

that have been made during the year, and develop-

ment of certain matters that were reported to stock-
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holders in the prior year, and that sort of thing,
which IS an annual report of the corporation.
The Witness: That's right.

The Court: Now, the confusion in the Court's
mmd that comes when both counsel for Respondent
and yourself as a witness used the expression
"proxy material" is that the Court doesn't know
what the expression means. [60]
The Witness

: May I clear it up, your Honor?
The Court: So, suppose you interrupt the an-

swer to my rather long question and clear that up.
The Witness: I would be very glad to. If you

look at Exhibit F
Mr. Rogers

:
Your Honor, may I help you to get

a clearer picture? He is referring to these forms,
and I think if they were in evidence and you could
look at them and the proxy material, you could
follow the picture. These are the Form 4's.

The Court: The Form 4 is an SEC form?
Mr. Rogers: That's right, your Honor.
The Court: Is there any objection to having

that in?

Mr. Rogers: These are the Form 4's.

Mr. MacLean: I have no objection, except they
include some that are irrelevant.

The Court: That is only cumulative, and prob-
ably it would be convenient to have an exhibit in
that form.

Mr. Rogers : I offer them in evidence.

The Court: Without objection, the exhibit is re-
ceived as Exhibit G.
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(Whereupon the document was marked Re-

spondent's Exhibit G for identification and

received in evidence.) [61]

The Witness : When I spoke of proxy material,

I spoke of a proxy statement. It has been required

by the Securities and Exchange Commission since

1934 of all corporations who are listed on a national

exchange, that a proxy statement has to comply

with a pretty detailed set of requirements put forth

by the regulations of the SEC, one of which involves

the disclosure of ownership of stock by officers and

directors, and it was in compliance with that par-

ticular requirement of their regulations that this

particular issue came up.

In the earlier Forms 4 I had filed it showed my

purchase and sale of stock, which they had in their

file in Washington. They checked that against the

proxy statement itself, which shows the stockhold-

ings not only of myself, but of course the others of

the officers and directors.

The Court: Now to be clear in the record, when

you use the word ^^statemenf' would you please use

a synonym to that?

The Witness: Yes. The regulations of the Se-

curities and Exchange Commission require listed

companies to furnish to their stockholders, of

course, what they refer to as a proxy statement, as

a condition to asking their stockholders to send in

proxies.

The Court: That is not the balance sheet state-

ment, then? [62]
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The Witness: Oh, no.

The Court: It is not an asset and liability state-
ment?

The Witness: No.

The Court: It is a narration of some sort?
The Witness

:
Yes, sir, with particular respect to

the matter of salaries paid to officers and directors.
The Court

:
You are using the word "statement"

there in the sense of using the word "report"?
The Witness: Yes. "Statement" is the word in

the regulations. That is what they call it, and that
15 what the companies have to call it.

The Court: The Tax Court has to be clear about
that. When I read the record I want to know what
I am reading.

Now, that statement or report was required by
the regulations issued by the Securities and Ex-
change Commission in connection with Section
16 (b), and was to be sent to stockholders of a cor-
poration that came under the regulations as a listed
company, prior to the annual meeting?
The Witness: That statement had to accompany

the proxies or the request for stockholders to file

proxies, which was requested by law.

The Court: It was to go out before the annual
meeting ?

The Witness: That's right. [63]
The Court: Along with the proxies to be sent to

stockholders. That clears that up.

Counsel called my attention to Exhibit 8—notice
of annual meeting of stockholders for 1946. Appar-
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ently the subject matter of this inquiry is the

"proxy statement" that is found in Exhibit 8. In

this report to the stockholders one of the facts to

be reported shows the number of shares of capital

stock owned by ofdcers, and also owned by em-

ployees. Supposing you point out to me just where

this item is in this report.

(Document handed to witness.)

The Witness: In the middle of the page here,

your Honor, is captioned "Owns Beneficially Capi-

tal Stock of Corporation March 15, 1946." Then,

opposite the names of each of the candidates for

election to the board, of which I was one, appears

the number of shares of stock that they owned on

that date.

The Court: Is that the reason why you were

obliged to consider whether certain details should

be put in the report, or is it because you were a

candidate for election? Is that the reason?

The Witness: That's why my stockholdings had

to be disclosed.

The Court: You see, that isn't a point that has

been made clear so far. I understood it was just

a matter of [64] reporting the stock ownership of

all officers and directors. That would be something

like reporting the number of employees that hold

stock. It isn't the same matter at all.

The Witness : No. This is in satisfaction of that

requirement of the SEC regulations, and all listed

companies must do that.
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The Court: What is the regulation then? There

IS something that we don't understand.
The Witness: I believe it is Regulation 14 X
The Court: What does the regulation say?
The Witness

:
It details the statements you must

make in a proxy statement, one of which is a writ-
ten statement of all the holdings of officers and
directors of the company.
The Court: You mean of those who are holding

the office, or those who are to be elected and on a
slate to be elected for office?

The Witness: The candidates for election to the
board in every case were re-elected. We were all
candidates for re-election.

The Court: All right.

The Witness
: Now to go on, your Honor

Mr. Rogers: I think one thing that would help
your Honor
The Court: I would appreciate your not inter-

rupting my train of thought. I try not to interrupt
your train of [65] thought. Also, it interrupts the
record.

Mr. Rogers
: I am sorry, your Honor.

The Court: Let us get back to this matter of
necessity you have been talking about. You owned
some stock you had been purchasing on the market
from 1936 up to 1940.

The Witness: 1938.

The Court: You decided to sell some of that
stock in 1946, in December—1945, in December—
and you also decided to exercise an option. You
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were entitled to it. There is nothing wrong about

that, as I understand it. The Government doesn't

contend there was anything wrong about his exer-

cising an option?

Mr. Rogers: That's right, your Honor, be-

cause-

The Court : Do you contend there was anything

wrong about his exercising an option?

Mr. Rogers : This was a repurchase of the stock

that he had sold within sixty days.

The Court: Maybe you do contend there is some-

thing wrong about it, but the

Mr. Rogers: That is the point, your Honor.

The Court: But the point is, you had to report,

and the company had to report the stock that you

owned in the corporation. You had to prepare to

make that report before the proxy notices were

sent out to the annual meeting in 1946. I don't see

what problem you have there. You say you [66]

didn't want to clutter up the proxy notice, or the

proxy material. What do you mean by cluttering

up the proxy material?

The Witness: Perhaps I can illustrate that to

you in this way, your Honor: When the Securities

and Exchange Commission examined this material

which is just in the shape it is in now, they came

to an item here with respect to Davis and saw his

holdings were 4,000 shares. It indicated my hold-

ings at that time were 4,000 shares.

The Court: What do you mean "at that time"?

The Witness : As of March 15, 1946.
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The Court: Wasn't that a fact?
The Witness

:
Yes. That is the fact. So the ex-

aminer in the SEC routinely compares each one of
these figures with the Forms 4 that have been filed
with him during the interim period during the year
The Court: Yes.

The Witness
: He saw on my Forms 4 that I had

sold stock in October, and purchased stock
The Court: You sold 2,000 shares of stock in

October?

The Witness: 1,000 shares of stock in October
The Court: Yes.

The Witness
:
And purchased stock in December.

The Court: How much did you purchase?
The Witness

: 2,000 shares under the option [67]
in December, which was within six months, and that
six months period is important because that is the
basis of 16 (b).

The Court: All right. He saw the item.
The Witness: That's right.

The Court: And that was of interest to SEC?
The Witness: That's right.

The Court: But so far as the reporting that you
had 4,000 shares on March 15, 1946, wasn't that
true that you had that?

The Witness : That was true.

The Court: Was he questioning that?
The Witness

: No, your Honor, but in comparing
that with the Forms 4 that I had filed, it came to
him that the sale by me in October, and a purchase
within six months in December, was a violation of
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16 (b), because it was within the same six months,

and he brought that to Mr. Hills' attention.

The Court: That takes us back to your explana-

tion of how the matter came up.

The Witness: Yes.

The Court: All right; that is clear. We may

want to resume that, however.

Now, one other thing. You testified at some time

in your testimony that the reason you turned back—

I beg your pardon, Mr. MacLean. I made that same

mistake. That apparently is a natural mistake and

does not indicate I am arriving [68] at any con-

clusions of any kind about this. When you made

out a check to your corporation for the difference

involved, I believe you testified that there was a

little problem about the amount of detail that would

have to go into the statement, and that the directors

advised you that they didn't want to have to clutter

^p_I think you used that expression—clutter up

that statement with that detail.

I am not clear about that. I don't know what you

mean by that.

The Witness: May I illustrate it by going on

from the point I left off?

The Court: I wish you would.

The Witness : The examiner got up to this point

and compared these holdings with my Form 4, and

then determined there was a 16 (b) problem, because

it was shown I had sold and purchased within six

months. So then he notified Mr. Hills, our counsel,

as far as the SEC was concerned either the com-
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pany would have to add to this proxy statement,
as submitted, a statement in accordance with a
paragraph of this letter here from the SEC to Mr
Hills

The Court: Under date of March 21.

The Witness: Of Exhibit 7, which paragraph
reads

:

''It is noted from reports filed by Mr. Wil-
liam F. Davis, Jr., he sold and purchased shares
of stock of the issuer within a period of six

months. If these [69] transactions resulted in

profits to Mr. Davis which are recoverable by
the issuer under Section 16 (b) of the Securi-

ties and Exchange Act of 1934, it appears that

the facts with respect thereto should be dis-

closed in the proxy statement, pursuant to Item
514 of Schedule 14 (a) of the proxy rules, to

the extent that any such profits were material

in amount."

Continuing on, your Honor, the SEC, by this in-

formation and all information by telephone and
otherwise to Mr. Hills, and then through to us,

stated that such a statement spelling out all this

detail would have to be added to the proxy material

somewhere, which probably would mean by another

page ; or, in the alternative, that I pay over to the

company the amount of profit they computed as

being the profit realizable under Section 16 (b),

which turned out to be $12,659.

The company said to me, ''Now, to put this ma-
teriar'—and they used the expression "clutter
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^p''_^Ho put all the details of your proxy transac-

tion in the proxy material would require another

full page, and we have a deadline in getting the

proxy out anyway, because we had 26,000 proxy

stockholders," and I didn't want to do it, so I paid

all this money over, which would satisfy the SEC

because they said, ^^If Davis pays it over there is

no statement necessary, but if he doesn't, then we

will require you to put in the statement that [70]

any stockholder may bring suit within two years in

the name of the corporation, or on behalf of the

corporation, against Davis, to recover this alleged

profit because of violation of Section 16 (b).

The Court: That is the law, providing that a

stockholder could bring suit?

The Witness : That is correct, sir, and the SEC

would require us to make such a statement to the

stockholders, so that they would know they had that

right.

The Court: All right. That answers the question,

and so that the record will be clear in the matter of

where the answer to this question that the Court

asked ends, let me say that my question is an-

swered. I have no further questions to ask this

witness at this time, but since the Court asked these

questions, and the Court's questions may have

raised questions in the minds of counsel, may I ask

Mr. MacLean, do you wish to ask the witness any

questions either on redirect, or in connection with

the questions that the Court has asked and the an-

swers which the witness has given to the Court's

questions ?
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Mr. MacLean
: May I ask a couple, your Honor ?

Redirect Examination

By Mr. MacLean:

Q. Mr. Davis, after the SEC's letter of March
21, 1946, offered in evidence as Exhibit 7, shown
to you, did you [71] make a study of Section 16
(b) ? A. Yes, I did.

Q. You are a lawyer? A. Yes, I am.
Q. Did you form any opinion as to your legal

liability to the company with respect to this amount
which you subsequently paid over? A. I did.
Mr. Rogers

: I object, your Honor.
The Court: Objection overruled.

Q. (By Mr. MacLean) : What was that opin-
ion?

A. My opinion was that by very severe and
strict interpretation of Section 16 (b) I was liable
to the company for $12,659.

Q. Literally you were within the terms of the
statute ?

A. Yes. Literally I was within the terms of the
statute, but I never felt I was within the terms of
the spirit of the statute.

Q. Do you know whether under the statute the
SEC has power to exempt transactions not within
the spirit of the statute?

A. Yes. They do have such power.

Q. Do you know whether any request was made
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on your behalf for such exemption in your [72]

case?

A. It most certainly was. Yes.

Q. Was it granted or denied?

A. It was not granted.

The Court : May we have better evidence on that

point, Mr. MacLean? It is not that the Court does

not believe the witness who is testifying, but the

point is, that is a very important fact. If you make

an aplication to an administrative officer, that is a

written application, and if the agency makes a

denial of the application, that is usually done under

writing. Wouldn't the best evidence of that be

for you to present to the Court a copy or the origi-

nal, or a photostatic copy?

Mr. MacLean: My difficulty I can make appar-

ent, your Honor, by asking Mr. Davis some ques-

tions.

Q. (By Mr. MacLean) : Mr. Davis, to the best

of your knowledge, was any written request made

by Mr. Hills, or was it discussed later by Mr. Hills?

A. There was no written request made. Mr.

Hills went to Washington and talked in a confer-

ence about it.

Q. And the turn-down was oral?

A. That is correct.

Mr. Rogers: I object to that, your Honor. I

don't think he can testify as to what Mr. Hills did

or did not do in Washington. [73]

Q. (By Mr. MacLean) : May I ask the witness

whether he was informed that such was the case?
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A. I was so informed by Mr. Hills.

Mr. Rogers
:

I object to that on the grounds that
it is hearsay.

Mr. MacLean: Your Honor, the witness is tes-
tifying as to what he was informed, and the infor-
mation upon which he acted in making the payment
to the company.

The Court
:

The objection is overruled. Where is

Mr. Hills, Mr. Davis?

The Witness: Mr. Hills is in New York, your
Honor.

The Court
:

Are you calling any other witnesses ?

Mr. MacLean: I hadn't planned to, your Honor.
Q. (By Mr. MacLean) : Did Hills advise you to

pay? A. He did.

The Court: Is the provision in the SEC Act
which we are concerned with here, very long?
Mr. MacLean: No. I have it here, your Honor.

It is short.

The Court: May the Court see it? Are you go-
ing to introduce in evidence the SEC Act of 1934?
Mr. MacLean: I had hoped the Court would

take judicial notice of the provisions of that
Act. [74]

The Court: Have you an extra copy of it?

Mr. Rogers: If you will permit me, I would
like to introduce that.

The Court: The reason I inquire about it is that
it would save my time in going over the case, if I
have a copy of the SEC Act to work with and don't
have to hop around for it in our library.
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Mr. MacLean: Certainly.

Mr. Rogers : You may have that. I got it from

SEC.

The Court: I don't want to inconvenience coun-

sel. If counsel will get ahold of an extra copy and

send it to me, with a covering letter, it doesn't have

to be offered in evidence at all.

Mr. MacLean: Would you like the regulations

too, your Honor ?

The Court : These are matters I can take judicial

notice of, but you must understand it is sometimes

time-consuming to go and locate regulations in the

different Departments of the Government than the

one which is usually before the Tax Court. No

doubt our library has them.

May I make this recommendation to counsel

then: I take it that counsel are agreed on the need

of the Court taking notice of the regulations and

of the Act, but we ought to be in agreement as to

what we are taking notice of. Therefore you will

help the Court a great deal, and the Court will [75]

appreciate it if you will set forth at the beginning

of your briefs, where you ordinarily refer to the

provisions of the Internal Revenue Code in the

regulations of the Commissioner of Internal Reve-

nue, a verbatim copy of 16 (b) of the Securities and

Exchange Act, and also a verbatim copy of what

you consider to be the pertinent regulations under

that Act; and I think that will eliminate my first

request that you furnish the Court with a copy of

the SEC Act.



Commissioner of Internal Revenue 91

(Testimony of William P. Davis, Jr.)
Now, if you will indulge the Court for a minute,

r would like to read over 16 (b) to myself. Would
counsel permit the Court to discuss this a little bit
at this time?

Mr. MacLean: Certainly, your Honor.
The Court

:
If the Court is in error in perceiving

the questions involved here, why, counsel can advise
the Court now and can advise the Court on brief

It seems to me that 16 (b) of the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934 does this: First, a purpose is
recited of the provision, and then it seems to me
that a right is created in the corporation, which is
called the issuer of the stock, and the right is this:
If the transaction is of the kind that is described
by the statute, that any profit realized by him—
meaning a beneficial owner, director or officer—shall
inure to and be recoverable by the issuer.

Now, if a statutory provision says any profit
realized under certain conditions and in a certain
kind of transaction [76] shall inure to the corpora-
tion which has issued the stock, the words "shall
inure" and "be recoverable" would seem to me to
create a right in the corporation.

Now then, how was the right to be carried out?
Mr. MacLean : The next sentence.

The Court: Of course, the word "inure" is

something like the word "accrue" in tax law. Now,
that right can be realized by a suit to recover, insti-

tuted in law or in equity in any court of common
jurisdiction by the corporation, the issuer, or by the
owner of any security of the issuer. That would



92 William F. Davis, Jr., etc., vs.

(Testimony of William F. Davis, Jr.

)

mean any stockholder ; and, the witness has referred

to the possibility of a stockholders' suit, and so

forth.

Then there is a statute of limitations in the next

sentence. Then there is an exception clause that

sets forth an exception.

Now, are counsel agreed that the Petitioner, Mr.

Davis, did not fall within the exception, or is that

open to argument?

Mr. MacLean: No exception was made by the

SEC for Mr. Davis' case, your Honor. I will stipu-

late that.

The Court : Mr. Rogers, what is your position on

that, to get this question narrowed down a little

bit?

Mr. Rogers: I will stipulate that also. No ex-

ception.

The Court: He was not exempt? [77]

Mr. MacLean: He was not exempted by SEC

action, your Honor.

The Court: He could only be exempt under this

last sentence of the provision, under rules and

regulations of the Commission.

Mr. MacLean: That was the only way in which

the SEC could rule him exempt.

The Court: All right. I guess that amounts to

what I had in mind.

Mr. MacLean: The question of whether what

Mr. Davis did was within the spirit of the statute

is what he has adverted to, in view of the fact that

what he did was purchased on option. He hadn't

gone out into the market and sold and bought.
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The Court: All right. That is all I wish to in-

quire about.

Mr. MacLean: I have just two exhibits I would
like to offer, bearing right on this point. I have
here House Committee Print, 77th Congress, First
Session, of a report of the Securities and Exchange
Commission on proposals for amendments to the
Securities Act of 1933, and the Securities and Ex-
change Act of 1934; Part II-M of such report deals
with Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange
Act of 1934 and states the purpose thereof and the
construction which the SEC has placed upon it.

I would like to offer that in evidence. [78]
Mr. Rogers: I object to this, your Honor, on

the grounds that it is a matter for brief. This is

legislative history.

The Court: I will overrule the objection and
receive it as a matter of convenience to the Court,
and ask you also to cover the matter in your brief.
That will be received in evidence as Petitioner's
Exhibit 9.

(Whereupon the document was marked Peti-
tioner's Exhibit No. 9 for identification and
received in evidence.)

Mr. MacLean: Lastly, I offer as Exhibit 10 a
duly authenticated copy of a Securities and Ex-
change Act release containing an amendment to its

rules under Section 16 (b), made in the exercise
of the powers which we have just noticed in the
last sentence of Section 16 (b), exempting from the
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Act cases where the purchase is made as a result

of direct payment of an officer's compensation in

stock of the issuing company.

The Court: Without objection

Mr. Rogers : No, your Honor.

The Court : That is received as Exhibit 10.

Mr. Rogers: I just want to enter my objection

on it, your Honor.

The Court: What objection?

Mr. Rogers: I thought it was being offered

in [79] evidence, your Honor.

Mr, MacLean : It is.

The Court: I guess you misunderstood. Is there

an objection to Exhibit 10?

Mr. Rogers : Yes, your Honor.

The Court: Please state your objection.

Mr. Rogers: The last sentence in that exhibit

says,

''Accordingly, the foregoing action shall be effec-

tive May 6, 1949,"

and I say that is immaterial in this case, where the

acts happened in 1945 and 1946.

The Court: Very well. I will overrule the ob-

jection on the materiality and receive the document

as Exhibit 10.

(Whereupon the document was marked Peti-

tioner's Exhibit No. 10 for identification and

received in evidence.)

Mr. MacLean: That completes the Petitioner's

case, your Honor.
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Mr. Rogers: That completes the Respondent's
case, your Honor.

Mr. MacLean: May I request seriatim briefs?
I think that would be more helpful to your Honor,
in view of this novel question of the status of the
16 (b) payment. There is no case I know of, your
Honor, where a penalty challenge [80] has been
made by the Government, where there is a payment
to a private company, as distinguished from a pay-
ment to a Government or municipality.

The Court: I appreciate your suggestion. I do
not think the Court would be helped one way or an-
other by having alternate briefs. You can get some
result by filing your reply briefs and your original

briefs. Let me see if there is anything I should
ask you about.

This point stands out very clearly, and I would,
like to call counsePs attention to it, at the time.

The Petitioner had purchased on the market a
certain amount of stock, and when he sold that stock
on the market he realized a gain and he was obliged

to report a certain amount of that gain as a gain
from the sale of capital assets. He was obliged to

report that in his 1945 income tax return. In this

return he reported a gain of about $10,234, and the

total income which he reported in this return was
approximately $31,000. The check that was made
to the United Drug Company is dated April 8,

1946

Mr. MacLean : Yes. The next year, your Honor.
The Court: So that the payment to the Drug
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Company of this amount of money which is in

question was not made in 1945.

Mr. MacLean: No, your Honor.

The Court: However, the item or transaction in

the [81] first instance gave rise to capital gam,

which was reported for tax purposes, and the tax-

payer paid a tax on that gain.

Mr. MacLean: That's right.

The Court: Now, the taxpayer parted with

funds.

Mr. MacLean: That's right.

The Court: There is no doubt about that; and

he has in one year realized funds which constituted

income, and he paid tax on it.

Mr. MacLean: Right.

The Court: There is a certain element of equity

in this claim of the taxpayer. Having reported a

gain for tax and paid a tax on it, when he takes

in some profit, he should believe that he has a right

to take a deduction when he parts with that cash.

Isn't that the equity of the case, or am I missing

something, Mr. MacLean?

Mr. MacLean: I agree with your Honor. I

would like to point out that while these proceeds

^ere—that Mr. Davis would have been in an even

harder position if, when he made his sales in Oc-

tober and December of 1945, he had had no taxable

gain, but he just had proceeds of sale of $25,000-odd

for 1,000 shares ; and then he purchased 1,000 shares

under the option within six months, as the SEC

ruled, for $12,500. He would have had this same
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loss. There would have been a demand for this
payment of $12,500 even though Mr. Davis had had
no capital gain on his original sale. [82]
The Court: All right. Then that is another

aspect of that yoli might make in your argument.
Of course, the Tax Court always has new questions
presented to it because of the great variety of trans-
actions which our taxpayers engage in, but aside
from the technical aspect of what provision of the
statute may be applicable or not applicable to a
certain kind of transaction, when you have a situ-
ation as you have here, where the taxpayer has
realized gain and reported the gain for tax pur-
poses, and paid a tax on it, it seems to me to be
ahnost an accounting aspect on a question of this
kind. That is, I assume that the taxpayer keeps his
books and files his returns on a cash basis.

Mr. MacLean: Yes, sir, your Honor. That has
been stipulated.

The Court: That has probably been stipulated.
The point is one I don't think I will try to develop.
We reached the point where we have to recess for

lunch and we are at the end of the trial of the case,
but will counsel please take into consideration this
aspect of the question, that the taxpayer has re-
ported for tax purposes in one year the gain which
he realized. He is recovering his capital in a trans-
action. He must pay a tax on his capital gain. All
right. The next year he has to take some of that
same capital, as I understand it
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Mr. MacLean: That's right, and pay it back to

the [83] company.

The Court: And now you have fallen into the

error, Mr. MacLean, of paying it back to the com-

pany.

Mr. MacLean: Paying it over to the company.

The Court: So we are all guilty of the same evil.

Mr. Rogers: I won't object, your Honor.

The Court: The point is the taxpayer made some

capital and paid it over to the corporation, and

therefore he is out of pocket on something that gave

rise to his paying a tax.

Mr. MacLean: Correct.

The Court: That seems to me to be an impor-

tant factor in the case, and an important factor in

consideration of the question. I assume this case is

one of first impression. If either counsel has any

case to cite, one coming before the Tax Court, I

will ask for his citation to it. It appears to you

when you first look into the question, that there is

an element of law here. The loss comes within either

Section 23 (a) or 23 (e).

Now, let me ask you to take into consideration

what I think would be the accounting aspect of it.

If you realize capital gain and have to pay a tax

to the Government on the capital gain, and then

next year you have to take the same capital gain

and give it up for some reason or other, you have

paid a tax on some income in one year that doesn't

stay with [84] you. Now, a transaction is taxed on

the basis of a closed and completed transaction.

That is perfectly true.

Mr. Rogers: That's right, your Honor.
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The Court: But what about this other aspect

of it?

Mr. Rogers: There is one point. I have worked
on this case, your Honor, and you have really
mastered in two hours what took me about three
weeks of constant study—and it is not an easy one;
but, the one thing that is important in helping you'
to reach a decision is, had all the events remained
the same, the same as you have just pointed them
out, up until December 31, and there had been no
second purchase, then everything you say is true
and all the equities would be in favor of allowing
him to have a deduction. But, it is what happened
on December 31—and that is the key date—the re-
purchase—that brings in this aspect of penalty; and,
therefore, does not permit the taxpayer to claim the'

deduction. That is our contention.

The Court: Then the question comes up, if there
is no aspect of penalty, then what? Do you really
have an aspect of penalty, or don't you?
Mr. Rogers: We claim you do, your Honor.
The Court: That is the Respondent's contention.
Mr. MacLean: There is in evidence, as our

exhibit, your Honor, a statement from the SEC that
says,

"Because Congress did not believe that [85]
publicity alone would be sufficient, it designed a
standard in 16 (b) that insiders because of their
fiduciary relationship should not trade in and out
in the securities of the company for their personal
gain. The consequences of failing to comply with
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this standard are not penal. The section does not

make insiders' trading unlawful. It does not even

subject-

Mr. Rogers: I object to this. This is a matter

for brief.

The Court: That is all right.

Mr. MacLean: This is in evidence.

The Court : You may proceed.

Mr. MacLean : "It does not even subj ect insiders

to injunctive proceedings. It simply guards against

the use of inside information, since such informa-

tion is not the personal property of the insiders

themselves, and since any profits resulting from its

use belong to the insiders no more than does the

inside information itself."

That is the theory of the statute, your Honor.

The Court: Thank you, Mr. MacLean, and you

will probably refer to that again in your brief.

Will the Clerk please read the dates for the

briefs? The witness is excused, and thank you for

giving your testimony to the Court. [86]

(Whereupon the witness was excused.)

The Clerk: The brief dates are as foUows:

March 10, 1950; reply, March 27, 1950.

The Court: Is there anything further?

Mr. Rogers: Your Honor, I would like to ask

your permission to have sixty days to file my brief.

The Court : I am very sorry that I can't do that.

I have had that request made to me now for the

third time on the call of the calendar. I never re-
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fuse a late brief. I usually have pending cases. Let
us have the dates for the briefs under the rules, and
if you find you have to ask for an extension of time,
I shall grant you an extension.

Mr. Rogers: Thank you, your Honor.
The Court: Thank you very much for your

presentation in this proceeding.
The hearing is concluded.

(Whereupon, at 1:00 o'clock p.m. the hear-
ing in the above-entitled matter was [87]
concluded.)

Certificate

I, Jack Rund, one of the official reporters of the
Tax Court of the United States under its reporting
contract, assigned to report certain proceedings
durmg the session of the Tax Court in New York,
New York, beginning January 23, 1950, do hereby
Certify as follows

:

That I reported all of the proceedings in the case
of William F. Davis, Jr., Petitioner, Docket No.
22322, on January 24, 1950, before the Honorable
Marion J. Harron, Judge of the Tax Court;
That I did well and truly, to the best' of my

ability, record in shorthand fully, completely and
accurately, all of the proceedings which I was as-
signed to report, including all colloquy and state-
ments made during the proceedings, and all ques-
tions to and answers given by witnesses

;

That my shorthand record is full, complete and
accurate ; and

That the foregoing record is a true, complete and
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accurate transcript of my shorthand notes of all the

proceedings which I reported, and all of the testi-

mony which was taken in the above-entitled cause.

Dated February 6, 1950.

/s/ JACK RUND.

Filed T.C.U.S. February 13, 1950.

[Title of Tax Court and Cause.]

September 28, 1951.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND OPINION

The Securities and Exchange Commission deter-

mined that the petitioner, who was an officer and

director of the corporation in whose stock he was

dealing, had violated section 16 (b) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 through the sale of 1,000

shares of the company's stock and the repurchase

of 1,000 shares at a lower price less than six months

later. Pursuant to the sanction imposed by section

16 (b), the petitioner paid to the corporation the

difference between the amount which he realized

from the sale and the cost to him of the shares sub-

sequently purchased.

Held, the sanction imposed by section 16 (b) is in

the nature of a penalty and deduction of the pay-

ment made pursuant thereto is disallowed since it

would mitigate the deterrent effect of the statute

and subvert a sharply defined public policy.
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CHARLES C. MacLEAN, JR., ESQ., and
LAURENCE F. CASEY, ESQ.,

For the Petitioner.

JOSEPH F. ROGERS, ESQ.,
For the Respondent.

The Commissioner has determined a deficiency in
the income tax liability of the petitioner for the
year 1946 in the amount of $5,834.78. The petitioner
concedes that part of the deficiency was properly
determined. However, he contests the disallowance
of a deduction in the amount of $12,659 which he
contends is deductible under either section 23 (a)

(1) or section 23 (e) of the Internal Revenue Code.
The issue in this proceeding arises from the fact

that the petitioner, who was an officer and director
of United Drug, Inc., sold 1,000 shares of his stock
in the corporation on October 25, 1945, and Decem-
ber 1, 1945, for $25,441.50. On December 31, 1945,
less than six months thereafter, he purchased 1,000
shares for $12,782.50. Under section 16 (b) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which provides
that any profit realized by an officer or director of a
corporation from any purchase and sale or sale and
purchase of the corporation's stock within a period
of six months shall inure to and be recoverable by
the corporation, the petitioner thereupon became
liable to United Drug, Inc., for $12,659. This
amount represented the difference between the pro-
ceeds which he realized from the sale of 1,000 shares
and the price which he subsequently paid for 1,000

shares. In 1946, the petitioner paid $12,659 to
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United Drug, Inc., because of his violation of sec-

tion 16 (b). He now seeks to deduct this payment

either as a business expense under section 23 (a)

(1) or as a loss under section 23 (e).

The petitioner, who is a resident of Los Angeles,

filed his return for the year 1946 with the collector

for the sixth district of California.

The record in this proceeding consists of a stipu-

lation of facts, oral testimony, and various exhibits.

Findings of Fact

The facts which have been stipulated are found

as stipulated.

United Drug, Inc., (hereinafter referred to as

"U. D. Inc."), is a holding company which owns all

the' stock of United Drug Company (hereinafter

referred to as "U. D. Co."). The headquarters of

both corporations were in Boston until September,

1945, at which time the headquarters were moved to

Los Angeles. Since 1936 the petitioner has been the

general counsel of both U. D. Inc. and U. D. Co.

He has also been a vice president of each company

since 1941 and a director of each company smce

1942. During 1945 and 1946, and for many years

prior thereto, the petitioner devoted his full time

to the duties of the positions which he held with

the two companies, except for a period of fifteen

months when he was on active duty with the Umted

States Marine Corps.
, , o onn

Between 1938 and 1942 the petitioner bought 2,000

shares of the capital stock of U. D. Inc. on the

open market. On October 25, 1945, the petitioner
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sold 500 of these shares on the open market, and on
December 1, 1945, he sold an additional 500 shares
The petitioner received the total sum of $25 44150
from these sales of 1,000 of his 2,000 shares. The
basis of the shares sold was $4,971.88. On his Fed-
eral income tax return for the year 1945 the peti-
tioner reported a long-term capital gain of $20-
469.62 from the sale of these shares.
At a meeting of U. D. Inc. on November 24

1943, a resolution was adopted recommending to the
subsidiary, U. D. Co., that U. D. Co. adopt a stock
option plan under which certain of U. D. Co 's

executives would be given options to purchase a
specified number of the shares of the stock of U. D.
Inc. which were then owned by TJ. D. Co. U. D. Co'
adopted the executives' stock option plan,' which
was made effective on February 15, 1944, and deter-
mined that the purchase price of the stock subject
to the options would be $12.75, which was the aver-
age price of U. D. Inc. stock on the New York
Stock Exchange on February 14, 1944. The purpose
of the plan was to give an additional incentive to
the executives and to provide them with greater
interest and enthusiasm in the enterprise.
On February 16, 1944, U. D. Co. entered into an

agreement with the petitioner which provided in
part as follows

:

The Executive is hereby given an option to pur-
chase from the Company at any time and from time
to time during the respective periods hereinafter
mentioned and on the terms and conditions herein-
after set forth at $12.75 per share all or any part



106 William F. Davis, Jr., etc., vs.

of the following amounts of the Common Capital

Stock of United Drug, Inc.

:

On and after March 1, 1944, and prior to

March 1, 1949 1,000 shares

On and after March 1, 1945, and prior to

March 1, 1950 1,000 additional shares

On and after March 1, 1946, and prior to

March 1 1951 1,000 additional shares

On and after March 1, 1947, and prior to

March 1, 1952 1,000 additional shares

On and after March 1, 1948, and prior to

March 1, 1953 1,000 additional shares
j

U. D. Co. filed a report of the granting of the
j

stock options with the Securities and Exchange
|

Commission on March 9, 1944. This report set forth
j

the names of the executives to whom options were

granted, the number of shares covered by the options

granted, and the terms and conditions of the options.

The report also stated that

:

There was no consideration as such for the

granting of the options herein reported. They

were granted by the Board of Directors of the

Company because it believes that the success of

the Company and its subsidiaries depends to a

very large extent upon the interest and en-

thusiasm of its key executives, and that if its

key executives are stockholders of United Drug,

Inc., which is the sole holder of the common

stock of United Drug Company, they will be

disposed to have an even greater interest and

enthusiasm in the enterprise.
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P As of December 31, 1945, the petitioner was en-
titled under his option agreement to purchase 2,000
shares of U. D. Inc. stock at $12.75 per share. Up
to this time he had not elected to exercise his option
to purchase stock. On December 31, 1945, the peti-
tioner exercised his right granted under the execu-
tives' stock option plan to purchase 2,000 shares of
U. D. Inc. stock from U. D. Co. This purchase in-
creased his holdings to 3,000 shares. The cost of
the stock purchased, including incidental expenses
was $25,565.

'

In accordance with section 16 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, 48 Stat. 896 (1934), 15 U.S.C.
section 78 (p), the petitioner reported the changes
in his ownership of U. D. Inc. stock to the Securities
and Exchange Commission on January 10, 1946.
On March 13, 1946, U. D. Inc. filed with the Se-

curities and Exchange Commission copies of its

preliminary proxy soliciting material in connection
with the annual meeting of its stockholders which
was scheduled to be held May 14, 1946. On March
21, 1946, the director of the Corporation Finance
Division of the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion informed U. D. Inc. that:

It is noted from reports filed by Mr. William
F. Davis, Jr., that he sold and purchased shares
of stock of the issuer within a period of six
months. If these transactions resulted in profits
to Mr. Davis which are recoverable by the
issuer under Section 16 (b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, it appears that the facts



108 William F. Davis, Jr., etc., vs.

with respect thereto should be disclosed in the

proxy statement pursuant to Item 5 (I) (4) of

Schedule 14 (A) of the proxy rules, to the ex-

tent that any such profits were material in

amount.

Upon further examination of the transactions, the

Securities and Exchange Commission determined

that the sale of U. D. Inc. stock by the petitioner in

October and December, 1945, and his subsequent

exercise of his option to purchase U. D. Inc. stock

on December 31, 1945, were transactions which vio-

lated section 16 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934. The provisions of section 16 are as follows

:

(a) Every person who is directly or indi-

rectly the beneficial owner of more than 10

per centum of any class of any equity security

(other than an exempted security) which is

registered on a national securities exchange, or

who is a director or an officer of the issuer of

such security, shall file, at the time of the

registration of such security or within ten days

after he becomes such beneficial owner, director,

or officer, a statement with the exchange (and

a duplicate original thereof with the Commis-

sion) of the amount of all equity securities of

such issuer of which he is the beneficial owner,

and within ten days after the close of each

calendar month thereafter, if there has been

any change in such ownership during such

month, shall file with the exchange a statement

(and a duplicate original thereof with the Com-
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mission) indicating his ownership at the close
of the calendar month and such changes in his
ownership as have occurred during such calen-
dar month.

(b) For the purpose of preventing the un-
fair use of information which may have been
obtained by such beneficial owner, director, or
officer by reason of his relationship to the issuer,
any profit realized by him from any purchase
and sale, or any sale and purchase, of any
equity security of such issuer (other than an
exempted security) within any period of less
than six months, unless such security was ac-
quired in good faith in connection with a debt
previously contracted, shall inure to and be
recoverable by the issuer, irrespective of any
intention on the part of such beneficial owner,
director, or officer in entering into such trans-
action of holding the security purchased or of
not repurchasing the security sold for a period
exceeding six months. Suit to recover such
profit may be instituted at law or in equity in
any court of competent jurisdiction by the
issuer, or by the owner of any security of the
issuer in the name and in behalf of the issuer
if the issuer shall fail or refuse to bring such
suit within sixty days after request or shall
fail diligently to prosecute the same thereafter;
but no such suit shall be brought more than
two years after the date such profit was realized.
This subsection shall not be construed to cover
any transaction where such beneficial owner
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was not such both at the time of the purchase

and sale, or the sale and purchase, of the se-

curity involved, or any transaction or transac-

tions which the Commission by rules and regu-

lations may exempt as not comprehended within

the purpose of this subsection.

Because of his violation of section 16 (b) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Commission

determined that the petitioner was liable to U. D.

Inc. for $12,659, which was the difference between

the $25,441.50 realized by the petitioner from the

sale of 1,000 shares and the $12,782.50 paid by him

for 1,000 of the 2,000 shares which he purchased

less than six months thereafter. The Commission

thereupon notified U. D. Inc. that either the peti-

tioner must pay over to the corporation $12,659 or

the corporation would have to disclose in its proxy

material that the petitioner was indebted to the

corporation for $12,659, which was recoverable by

the corporation or by any holder of an equity

security suing in its behalf, as well as the details

of the transactions.

Upon being notified of the ruling of the Securi-

ties and Exchange Commission, the president and

the members of the executive committee of U. D.

Inc. requested the petitioner to pay over to the

company the sum of $12,659 in order to eliminate

the difficulties which had arisen with the Com-

mission in connection with the anual stockholders'

meeting. The petitioner, through his counsel, made

a formal request to the Commission to exempt his

transactions from the operation of section 16 as not
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comprehended within the purpose of the section.
Under section 16 the Commission had discretion to
grant such exemption. The Commission, however,
refused to exempt the petitioner's transactions, and
the petitioner's counsel advised him that he was
liable to U. D. Inc. under section 16 for $12,659.
The petitioner, who was a lawyer, also made a de-
tailed study of section 16 and concluded that his
transactions violated the letter of the statute.
After the treasurer of U. D. Inc. made a formal

demand upon the petitioner for $12,659, the peti-
tioner delivered his certified check for the above
amount to U. D. Inc. on April 8, 1946.

Opinion
Harron, Judge:

The petitioner, who was an officer and director
of United Drug, Inc., owned shares of stock in the
corporation which he had purchased in 1938 and
1940. On October 25, 1945, and December 1, 1945,
he sold 1,000 shares of this stock for $25,441.50, real-
izing a long-term capital gain of $20,469.62. Less
than six months after these sales, the petitioner
purchased 1,000 shares of the company's stock under
an option which had been granted to him and other
executives of the corporation at an option price of
$12.75 per share. Incidental expenses raised the
total cost of the shares to $12,782.50. Because the
purchase was made less than six months after the
sale of the 1,000 shares previously held by the peti-
tioner, the Securities and Exchange Commission
determined that the petitioner had violated section
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16 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 19341

and that United Drug, Inc., was entitled to recover

$12,659, which was the difference between the $12,-

782.50 paid by the petitioner for 1,000 shares and

the $25,441.50 realized by him from the sale of 1,000

shares less than six months previously. The Securi-

ties and Exchange Commission thereupon notified

the United Drug, Inc., that the Commission would

not approve the corporation's annual proxy state-

ment unless either the petitioner paid over $12,659

to United Drug, Inc., or it was disclosed in the com-

pany's annual proxy statement that the petitioner

was indebted to United Drug, Inc., for $12,659,

which was recoverable by the company or any

holder of one of its equity securities suing in its

behalf under section 16 (b) of the Securities Ex-

change Act of 1934. Thereafter, upon demand by

United Drug, Inc., pursuant to section 16 (b), the

petitioner paid to the corporation $12,659 on April

8, 1946. The petitioner now seeks to deduct this

payment either as a business expense under section

23 (a) (1) of the Internal Revenue Code or as a

loss under section 23 (e).

The respondent bases his determination that the

payment is not a proper deduction under either

section 23 (a) (1) or section 23 (e) primarily on

the ground that the payment was a penalty imposed

on the petitioner by section 16 (b) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 19342 and that to allow its deduc-

148 Stat. 896 (1934), 15 U.S.C., section 78 (p)

(b) (1940).

2Sec 16. (a) Every person who is directly or

indirectly the beneficial owner of more than 10 per
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tion would frustrate the clear policy defined in
section 16 (b). The petitioner, however, contends
that the obligation imposed by section 16 (b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 upon an officer
or director of a corporation to pay over to his com-
pany the "insider's profits" realized from transac-
tions within section 16 (b) is not a penalty; and
that even if the payment of such an obligation is a

centum of any class of any equity security (otherthan an exempted security) which is registerd on anational securities exchange, or who is a director oran officer of the issuer of such security, shall file, atthe time of the registration of such security orwithm ten days after he becomes such beneficial
owner, director, or officer, a statement with the ex-change (and a duplicate original thereof with theCommission) of the amount of all equity securities
ot such issuer of which he is the beneficial ownerand withm ten days after the close of each calendarmonth thereafter, if there has been any change insuch ownership during such month, shall file with
the exchange a statement (and a duplicate original
thereof with the Commission) indicating his owner-
snip at the close of the calendar month and such
changes m his ownership as have occurred during
such calendar month.

^y>->->-i^^

..J^^Z-^'l
*^« P^^Pos? of preventing the unfair

use of information which may have been obtained
t)y such beneficial owner, director, or officer bv
reason of his relationship to the issuer, any profit
realized by him from any purchase and sale, or anv
sale and purchase, of any equity security of such
issuer (other than an exempted security) withinany period of less than six months, unless such
security was acquired in good faith in connection
with a debt previously contracted, shall inure to and
be recoverable by the issuer, irrespective of anv in-
tention on the part of such beneficial owner di-



114 William F. Davis, Jr., etc., vs.

penalty, the allowance of a deduction for its pay-

ment would not contravene the public policy ex-

pressed in section 16 (b).

Decision that the payment in question was in the

nature of a penalty will not resolve the ultimate

issue in this proceeding. The essential inquiry must

be not only into the character of the payment made

but also into the cognate question of whether the

deduction of the payment in issue will frustrate any

rector, or officer in entering into such transaction of

holding the security purchased or of not repur-

chasing the security sold for a period exceeding

six months. Suit to recover such profit may be in-

stituted at law or in equity in any court of com-

petent jurisdiction by the issuer, or by the owner ot

any security of the issuer in the name and m behalt

of the issuer if the issuer shall fail or refuse to

bring such suit within sixty days after request or

shall fail diligently to prosecute the same there-

after; but no such suit shall be brought more than
|

two years after the date such profit was realized.

This subsection shall not be construed to cover any

transaction where such beneficial owner was not

such both at the time of the purchase and sale, or

the sale and purchase, of the security involved, or

any transaction or transactions which the Commis-

sion by rules and regulations may exempt as not

comprehended within the purpose of this subsection.

See also, the similar provisions contained m
section 17 of the Public Utility Holding Company

Act of 1935, 49 Stat. 832 (1935) 15 U SC. section

79 (a) (h) (1946), and section 30 (f) of the Invest-

ment Company Banking Act of 1940, 54 Stat 837

0-940) 15 U.S.C. section 80 (a)-29b (1946) Up to

June 30, 1949, 309,494 reports had been filed by

45,179 iAsiders of 2,733 issuers of publicly listed

equity securities, 255 registered pubhc utility hold-

ing companies, and 234 registered closed-end invest-

mtnt companies. 15 Ann. Rep. S.E.C. 47 (1949).
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sharply defined public policy expressed in section
16 (b) of the Securities Exchange Act and subvert
the purposes of that statute. As was said in Na-
tional Brass Works, Inc., v. Commissioner, 182 Fed
2d 526:

The real reason for denying the deductibility
of "penalties" is not that they are character-
ized as such but because allowance in many
cases would be against public policy. As the
Supreme Court stated in Commissioner v Hein-
inger, 320 U. S. 467, 473 (1943), a tax deduc-
tion must not "frustrate * * * [any] sharply
defined * * * policies" of the sovereign. It is
true that neither the tax statute nor the treas-
ury regulations condition deductibility upon
the lawful character, either directly or remotely,
of the expenditure made, * * * But, in the
nature of things, public policy must narrow
the field of allowable deductions which rest as
they do upon legislative indulgence.

See, also, Jerry Rossman Corp. v. Commissioner,
175 Fed. 2d 711, reversing 10 T.C. 468; Farmers
Creamery Co. of Fredericksburg, Va., 14 T.C. 879.
Based upon our examination of the extent and

nature of the liability imposed by section 16(b) and
the application of that section to the petitioner's
transactions, we have concluded that the obligation
imposed by the section is in the nature of a penalty
and that allowance of its deduction under the circum-
stances of this proceeding would frustrate the public
policy expressed in the section. The Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934 is a comprehensive statute whose
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prime objective was the establishment and mainte-

nance of a free and open market for trading in securi-

ties in which the prices obtained would represent an

evaluation of worth based upon a full knowledge by

all traders of the pertinent and available data. Secur-

ities Exchange Act of 1934, section 2, 48 Stat. 881

(1934), 15 U. S. C, section 78(b) (1946). Because

corporate directors, officers, and substantial stock-

holders, by reason of their inside position, have ac-

cess to information not available to the market gen-

erally and, by reason of their managerial control,

are able to influence the destinies of their companies

in order to profit from market activities, section

16(b) was devised to deprive such insiders of an in-

centive to take advantage of their corporate posi-

tions by removing the profit from all short-swing

speculations by corporate directors, officers, or sub-

stantial stockholders. Report- of the Senate Com-

mittee on Banking and Currency, Sen. Rep. No.

1455, 73d Cong., 2d Sess., 55 (1934) ;
Smolowe v.

Delendo, 136 Fed. 2d 231; Benisch v. Cameron, 81

Fed. Supp. 882 ; Grossman v. Young, 70 Fed Supp.

970. Section 16(b) provides that any profits real-

ized by corporate insiders from "any purchase and

sale, or any sale and purchase, of any equity secur-

ity [of their own corporation] within any period of

less than six months, shall inure to and be recover-

able by" the corporation. The purpose of the sec-

tion was to be "thoroughgoing, to squeeze all

possible profits out of stock transactions, and thus

to establish a standard so high as to prevent any

conflict between the selfish interest of a fiduciary of-
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ficer, director, or stockholder and the faithful per-
formance of his duty.'' Smolowe v. Delendo, supra.
Although ^^the words ^ penal' and ^penalty' have

many different shades of meaning, and are in fact
among the most elastic terms known to law," Ward
V. Rice, 29 Fed. Supp. 714, 715, in Gerry Rossman
Corp. V. Commissioner, supra, the Court of Appeals
for the Second Circuit examined the functional na-
ture of a penalty and determined that

:

Taken in its broadest sense that word [pen-
alty] has a punitive, as opposed to a remedial,
meaning; it covers fines and other exactions
which are not restitution for a wrong, and are
only justified as a deterrent, or in order to sat-

isfy an atavistic craving for retaliation.

See, also, Huntington v. Attrill, 146 U. S. 657;
Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Ry. v. Nichols, 264
TJ. S. 348; Restatement, Conflict of Laws, section
611. The payment made by the petitioner to United
Drug, Inc., under section 16(b) was not a restitution
of a profit which properly belonged to the corpora-
tion, nor was the cause of action granted by the sec-
tion a remedy predicated upon specific injury to a
stockholder; rather, the cause of action was created
to police insider activity, and the payment was im-
posed as a deterrent to action in violation of the
statute. Because of the great difficulty of proving a
conscious misuse of inside information by officers,

directors, or substantial holders of securities in short-
swing sales and purchases with a resulting profit
section 16(b) imposes on these parties as a prophy-
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lactic measure absolute liability for the profit re-

sulting from the short-swing transactions. The

profit realized is forfeited to the corporation, not

restored to a stockholder who may have been in-

jured. The statutory accountability to the corpora-

tion imposed by section 16(b), however, does not

supersede any common-law liability to the person

from whom the securities were bought or to whom

they were sold. Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

section 28(a), 48 Stat. 903 (1934), 15 U. S. C. sec-

tion 78(bb) (1946). A stockholder aggrieved by a

fraudulent misrepresentation or failure to disclose

inside information may still sue the insider to recover

either the shares sold or his damages from the trans-

action, despite the fact that the corporation is

entitled to a separate recovery under section 16(b).

Strong V. Repide, 213 U. S. 419; cf. Ballantine, Law

of Corporations, 217 (Rev. ed. 1946).

The liability imposed by section 16(b) springs

from an act in violation of statute and is arbitrarily

exacted for the violation. Unlike the situation

under the O.P.A. regulations in the Rossman case

supra, good faith, innocent transgression, or fair

dealing neither excuse nor abate the statutory exac-

tion,3 which does not compensate for a financial loss

suffered by the corporation but instead seeks to reg-

ulate human behavior through the threat of finan-

cial retribution. And the payment does not lose its

character as a penalty because it is recoverable in

sSmolowe v. Delendo, supra, at 237; Truncale v.

Blumberg, 80 Fed. Supp. 387; see Securities and Ex-

change Commission v. Chenery, 318 U. S. 80.
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a civil action, United States v. La Franca, 282 U. S.
568, 572-4; United States v. Chouteau, 102 U. S.
603, 611; or because in the exercise of its discretion
the legislature has provided that it is to be paid to
an individual rather than to the sovereign. Liberty
Warehouse Co. v. Burley Tobacco Growers' Co-op
Marketing Ass'n., 276 U. S. 71, 97; St. Louis L M.
& S. R. Co. V. Williams, 251 U. S. 63.

The petitioner has referred us to the Report of
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Pro-
posal for Amendments to the Securities Act of 1933
and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, dated
August 7, 1941, page 36, in which, in opposing a
proposal to repeal section 16(b), the Commission
said :

The consequences of failing to comply with
this standard [section 16(b)] are not penal.
The section does not make insiders' trading un-
lawful

;
it does not even subject insiders to in-

junctive proceedings.

However, we are no more swayed by the characteri-
zation made under the conditions of that report than
we are by the use of the word "penalty" in refer-
ence to a section 16(b) payment in Smolowe v. De-
lendo, supra. Although the sanction imposed by sec-
tion 16(b) may not be "penal" in the sense of
"criminal," it still falls within the functional defini-
tion of "penalty," contained in the Rossman case
and other cases cited supra, with their emphasis on
the preventive as opposed to the remedial conse-
quences of such payments.

It is not within the province of the Tax Court to
remove any part of the naturally resulting punitive
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force from penalties imposed for acts contrary to

public policy. Congress considered transactions in

violation of section 16(b) to be detrimental to the

public welfare and designated a money sanction

equivalent to the profit realized from the proscribed

short-swing transactions as a substantial deterrent

to such activities. The activities of the petitioner

fell within the proscription of the statute ;4 and

after the Securities and Exchange Commission,

which is concerned with the practical enforcement

of section 16(b) and is in the best position to deter-

mine how important a particular sanction may be,

refused to exempt the petitioner's activities from

4Park & Tilford v. Schulte, 160 Fed. 2d 984, cer-

tiorari denied, 332 U. S. 761; see H. Rep. No. 1383,

73d Cong., 2d Sess., 10-11 (1934) ; Sen. Rep. No.

1455, 73d Cong., 2d Sess., 55-63 (1934).

The petitioner has brought to our attention the

fact that the Securities and Exchange Commission,

in the exercise of its rule-making power, on May 12,

1949, exempted from the structure of section 16(b)

transactions involving the purchase of an equity

security by a director or an officer where the security

is acquired directly from the issuer or its subsidi-

aries solely in consideration of the services as an

officer or employee and pursuant to a bonus, profit-

sharing, or other similar plan approved by the se-

curity holders in which the amount of securities dis-

tributed or set aside for a fiscal year pursuant to

the plan is related to the net profits of the issuer

and its subsidiaries for such year. Rule A.-lb-b-e:;, 1/

Code Fed. Reg. section 240.16b-3. Even if this regu-

lation had been in effect in 1945, however, the

transactions of the petitioner would not have been

exempted from the proscription of section lb(b)

since they obviously would not have met the strict

requirements of the regulation.
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its operation, be paid the penalty therefor. Allow-
ance of the deduction in question would weaken an
effective method of enforcing the sharply defined
policy expressed in section 16(b) by mitigating the
deterrent effect^of the sanction imposed and making
the net effect of the transactions profitable through
the gaining of a tax advantage.

Cases such as William Ziegler, Jr., 5 T. C. 150;
Eobert S. Parrell, 44 B. T. A. 238; and Charles r!
Stuart, 38 B. T. A. 1147, which were cited by the
petitioner, are readily distinguishable. The element
common to all of these cases, but which is lacking in
this proceeding, is that in each case the payment was
made as restitution to make an injured party whole,
rather than as the result of a sanction imposed to
effectuate \hQ design of a statute. Because of the
different nature of the payments in those cases, the
question of whether or not their deduction would
frustrate public policy as defined by a statue of the
sovereign was not involved. In Commissioner v.

Longhorn Portland Cement Co., 148 Fed. 2d 276, re-
versing in part, 3 T. C. 310, certiorari denied, ^326

U. S. 728, which held that a compromise payment in
settlement of a violation of a state anti-trust law
was not deductible, the Court said

:

The sense of the rule that statutory penal-
ties are not deductible from gross income is that
the penalty is a punishment infiicted by the
state upon those who commit acts violative of
the fixed public policy of the sovereign, where-
fore to permit the violator to gain a tax advan-
tage through deducting the amount of the
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penalty as a business expense, and thus to miti-

gate the degree of his punishment, would frus-

trate the purpose and effectiveness of that

public policy.

See, also, Universal Atlas Cement Co., 9 T. C. 971,

aff 'd. per curiam, 171 Fed. 2d 294, certiorari denied,

336 U. S. 962; Davenshire, Inc., 12 T. C. 958; Hel-

vering v. Superior Wines & Liquors, Inc., 134 Fed.

2d 373.

The importance of effectively enforcing a regula-

tion which was passed for the general welfare re-

quires neither the lessening of the deterrent effect

of the penalty imposed nor the granting of a tax

advantage through the allowance of a deduction for

the payment made. It is held that the respondent

was correct in refusing to allow the deduction in

question.

Eeviewed by the Court.

Decision will be entered for the respondent.

DISNEY and RAUM, JJ., concur in the result.

MURDOCK J., dissenting:

The petitioner sold some stock in 1945 which had

a basis to him of $4,971.88. He received $25,441.50

from the purchaser. However, he was required by

law as a result of that transaction, together with a

subsequent purchase of additional shares on Decem-

ber 31, 1945, to pay $12,659 to United Drug, Inc.

He actually paid that amount on April 8, 1946. It
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was then not too late to file an amended return for
1945. The two transactions were inseparable for
tax purposes. The amount which he had to pay to
the company reduced for tax purposes the amount
realized from the sale so that the net result of his
transaction was a long-term capital gain during
1945 of $7,810.62. If the payment to the company
required by law had been made in 1945 when the
obligation arose, a proper report for that year would
have been a long-term capital gain of $7,810.62.

It is taken for granted in the majority opinion
that the petitioner, by making the payment to the
company in 1946, in that year had a deductible busi-
ness expense, a loss incurred in trade or business
within section 23(e)(1) or a loss sustained in a
transaction entered into for profit within section
23(e) (2). The evidence does not show that the pay-
ment was an ordinary and necessary expense of any
business carried on by the petitioner, was connected
with any trade or business carried on by him, or was
connected with any transaction entered into for
profit other than the sale of the securities. Since
the sale of securities, even after the payment to the
company, still resulted in a gain, it is difiacult to see
how section 23(e) would apply. Thus, if the repay-
ment is to be considered a separate transaction, it
is not apparent that any provision of the Code pro-
vides for its deduction, and the only way it could
be deducted would be to consider it a part of the
1945 sale from which the net result in 1945 was a
long-term capital gain of $7,810.62 since $12,659 of
the amount received from the purchaser did not be-
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long to the petitioner but within the year was pay-

able to United Drug, Inc.

The tax result should not be different or more

favorable to the taxpayer merely because the peti-

tioner delayed making the required payment to the

company. The delay would not make the payment

a loss where previously it had been merely a reduc-

tion of the amount realized as a profit in a sale.

However, if the payment had some tax significance

in 1946, it would have to be upon the theory that an

excessive long-term gain had been reported for 1945

and a balancing of accounts with the Commissioner

would require an offsetting capital loss for 1946.

But whatever the proper treatment imder the In-

ternal Revenue Code may be, it is not in violation of

public policy under the facts of this case.

VAN FOSSAN, J., agrees with this dissent.

TIETJENS, J., dissenting

:

I respectfully record my dissent. Inherent in the

majority opinion is recognition that petitioner suf-

fered a loss within the provisions of the Interal

Revenue Code providing for deductibility of losses.

With this I agree. However, the majority denies

petitioner thQ deduction of this loss on the ground

that to do so would ''frustrate'' a well defined pub-

lic policy. With this I disagree.

The majority seems to feel that to allow peti-

tioner the deduction would in some way encourage

corporate ofBcers to indulge in short-swing specula-

tion in the stocks of their companies despite the



Commissioner of Internal Revenue 125

fact that the Securities Exchange Act would require
any profits made from such transactions to be paid
over by the officer to the corporation. I find noth-
ing in the record to justify this fear. It is always
"possible" that deductions will result in some ad-
vantage to a taxpayer. But that result flows from
the very nature of deductions. Suffice it to say that
there is nothing here to show that petitioner had
any such motive in buying and selling stock. It is

apparent that his liability to the corporation came
as a surprise to him. He had reported as income
and paid the required tax on the profits from his
sale. That his subsequent purchase subjected him
to the sanction of parting with a portion of the gain
he had realized, so far as I can see, was unrelated
to the fact that the Code might provide for deducti-
bility of his loss or the possibility that the taxing
authorities might deny him that deduction. To deny
him the deduction, as the majority has done, seems
to me to subject petitioner to a double sanction
nowhere provided for, either by the Securities Ex-
change Act or the Internal Revenue Code. He paid
the tax required on his profit. Part of the profit
was later taken from him and turned over to the
corporation. Why deny him the deduction?
Of course, as the majority says, the sanction im-

posed by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 was
designed as a deterrent to police insider stock deal-
ing. But in concluding that this Court must add a
further deterrent, if it be a deterrent (and I cannot
find that it would be) to such transactions, I think
the majority is wrong.
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The Exchange Act provides its own sanctions. If

those sanctions are not harsh enough, Congress can

remedy the situation. It has done so in similar situ-

ations. See Weather-Seal Manufacturing Co., 16

T^ C^_(No. 158). Too, I think the majority passes

too lightly over the pronouncement of the Securities

and Exchange Commission itself to the effect that

failures to comply with the section of the Securities

Exchange Act here involved are not ''penal" or

'^unlawful" and do not even ''subject insiders to

injunctive proceedings." The pronouncement con-

tinues: "It [Sec. 16(b)] simply guards against the

use of inside information since such information is

not the personal property of the insiders them-

selves and since any profits resulting from its use

belong to the insiders no more than does the infor-

mation itself." The majority is not "swayed by this

characterization." I would accord it more weight.

Neither can I disregard the subsequent actions of

the Commission in ameliorating the effect of section

16(b) so far as purchases by corporate officers of

equities in their corporation or its subsidiaries pur-

suant to stock options, bonus plans, etc., are con-

cerned. 17 C. F. K., section 240.16b-3. While the

applicability of these actions is not too clear in the

case at hand, the amendments made by the Commis-

sion indicate to me that the policy of the Securities

Exchange Act with reference to transactions of the

kind here involved is not as well defined as the pre-

vailing opinion argues.

In my opinion, to allow this petitioner to deduct

for tax purposes the amount he was required to pay
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over to the corporation will in no way interfere with
the policy of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
The exaction of that statute is more remedial than
penal in providing that the profits of the transac-
tion inure to the corporation rather than to the in-
dividual, and the payment made should have been
allowed as a deduction.

AEUNDELL, VAN FOSSAN, BLACK, and
JOHNSON, J. J., agree with this dissent.

Served October 2, 1951.

The Tax Court of the United States

Washington

Docket No. 22322

WILLIAM F. DAVIS, JR.,

Petitioner,
vs.

COMMISSIONER OF INTERNAL REVENUE,
Respondent.

DECISION
Pursuant to the determination of the Court, as

set forth in its Findings of Fact and Opinion pro-
mulgated September 28, 1951, it is Ordered and De-
cided: That there is a deficiency in income tax for
the year 1946, in the amount of $5,834.78.

[Seal] /s/ MARION J. HARRON,
Judge.

Entered September 28, 1951.

Served October 2, 1951.
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In the United States Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit

Tax Court Docket No. 22322

WILLIAM F. DAVIS, JR., Now Deceased, by the

Estate of William F. Davis, Jr., California

Trust Company, Executor,

Petitioner,

vs.

COMMISSIONER OP INTERNAL REVENUE,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Taxpayer, William F. Davis, Jr., died June 14,

1951, during the pendency of this proceeding, and

the Estate of William F. Davis, Jr., by California

Trust Company, Executor, hereby files on behalf of

petitioner, William F. Davis, Jr., its petition for a

review by the United States Court of Appeals for

the Ninth Circuit of the decision by the Tax Court

of the United States rendered on September 28,

1951, 17 Tax Court No. 59, determining a deficiency

in the petitioner's Federal income tax for the calen-

dar year 1946, in the amount of |5,834.78, and re-

spectfully shows

:

I.

The petitioner, William F. Davis, Jr., now de-

ceased, was a resident of the County of Los Angeles,

State of California, and filed his Federal income

tax return for the calendar year 1946, with the Col-
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lector of Internal Revenue for the Sixth District of
California.

The petitioner herein, pursuant to the provisions
of Internal Revenue Code Section 1141(b)(1), re-
quests that the aforesaid decision of the Tax Court
of the United States be reviewed by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit.

II.

Nature of the Controversy
The controversy involves the proper determina-

tion of the petitioner's liability for Federal income
taxes for the calendar year 1946.

Petitioner in the years 1945 and 1946, and for
many years prior thereto, was an officer and direc-
tor of United Drug, Inc. On October 25, 1945 and
December 1, 1945, he sold 1,000 shares of his stock
in the said corporation for $25,441.50. On Decem-
ber 31, 1945, less than six months thereafter, he pur-
chased 1,000 shares of the stock of said corporation
for $12,782.50. The 1,000 shares purchased on De-
cember 31, 1945, were purchased pursuant to the
terms of an executives' stock option plan adopted
by United Drug Company on February 15 1944
whereby petitioner was given an option to acquire
certain shares of United Drug, Inc., at $12.75 per
share. Under Section 16(b) of the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934, which provides that any profit
realized by an officer or director of a corporation
from any purchase and sale, or sale and purchase
of the corporation's stock within a period of six
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months shall inure to and be recoverable by the cor-

poration, the petitioner thereupon became liable to

United Drug, Inc., lor $12,659.00, representing the

difference between the proceeds which he realized

from the sale of 1,000 shares and the price which he

subsequently paid for 1,000 shares. Petitioner's

basis for the 1,000 shares sold during the calendar

year 1945 was $4,971.88. On his Federal income

tax return for the year 1945, the petitioner reported

a long-term capital gain of |20,469.62 from the sale

of the 1,000 shares.

Pursuant to the terms of Section 16(b) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the treasurer of

United Drug, Inc., made a formal demand upon the

petitioner for $12,659.00, and on April 8, 1946, pe-

titioner delivered his certified check in said amount

to United Drug, Inc. Petitioner in preparing and

filing his Federal income tax return for the calendar

year 1946, claimed a deduction in the amount of

$12,659.00 respecting the amount paid by petitioner

to United Drug, Inc., as aforesaid, either as a busi-

ness expense under Section 23(a)(1), or as a loss

under Section 23(e). The Commissioner of Internal

Kevenue determined a deficiency in the income tax

liability of the petitioner for the year 1946 and dis-

allowed a deduction respecting the amount paid by

petitioner to United Drug, Inc.

III.

The said petitioner, being aggrieved by the find-

ings of fact and conclusions of law contained in the
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said findings and opinion of the Court, and by its

decision entered pursuant thereto, desires to obtain

a review thereof by the United States Court of Ap-
peals for the Ninth Circuit.

WILLIAM F. DAVIS, JR.,

Now Deceased, by the Estate of William P. Davis,

Jr., California Trust Company, Executor.

By /s/ C. L. PATTERSON,
Assistant Trust Officer.

Duly verified.

Received and filed T. C. U. S., December 19, 1951.

[Title of Tax Court and Cause.]

NOTICE OP PILING PETITION
POR REVIEW

To Chief Counsel,

Bureau of Internal Revenue,

Washington, D. C.

You are hereby notified that the petitioner has

heretofore filed with the Clerk of the Tax Court of

the United States at Washington, D. C, a petition

for review by the United States Court of Appeals
for the Ninth Circuit of the decision of the Tax
Court of the United States heretofore rendered in

the above-entitled cause. A copy of the petition for

review is hereto attached and served upon you.
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Dated at Los Angeles, California, this ITth day

of December, 1951.

Respectfully,

WILLIAM F. DAVIS, JR.,

Now Deceased, by the Estate of William F. Davis,

Jr., California Trust Company, Executor.

By /s/ C. L. PATTERSON,
Assistant Trust Officer.

Received and filed T. C. U. S., December 19, 1951.

In the Superior Court of the State of California,

in and for the County of Los Angeles

No. 319333

In the Matter of the Estate of

WILLIAM F. DAVIS, JR.,

Deceased.

LETTERS TESTAMENTARY

State of California,

County of Los Angeles—ss.

The Last Will of William P. Davis, Jr., deceased,

having been proved in the Superior Court of the

County of Los Angeles, State of California, Cali-

fornia Trust Company, who is named therein as

such, is hereby appointed Executor.

Witness: Harold J. Ostly, Clerk of the Superior

Court of the County of Los Angeles, with the Seal
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of the Court affixed the 13th day of July, A.D. 1951.

By Order of the Court.

[Seal] HAROLD J. OSTLY,
County Clerk.

By K. CLARK,
Deputy Clerk.

State of California,

County of Los Angeles—ss.

Wilfrid C. Dickie, being duly sworn deposes and
says :

That California Trust Company is a corpora-
tion and I am an officer thereof, to wit: the Assist-
ant Trust Officer, and make this oath both for
myself individually, and for and on behalf of said
corporation, and as the Assistant Trust Officer
thereof.

I Do Solemnly Swear that said corporation, Cali-
fornia Trust Company, will, and also that as the
Assistant Trust Officer thereof and also individually,
I will support the Constitution of the United States'
and the Constitution of the State of California, and
that said corporation will faithfully perform, ac-
cording to law, the duties of Executor of the' last
Will and Testament of William F. Davis, Jr., de-
ceased.

WILFRID C. DICKIE.
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Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 13th day

of July, A.D. 1951.

[Seal] NINA M. LOMBAEDO,
Notary Public in and the County of Los Angeles,

State of California.

My Commission Expires Sept. 30, 1951.

State of California,

County of Los Angeles—ss.

I, Harold J. Ostly, County Clerk and ex-officio

Clerk of the Superior Court within and for the

County and State aforesaid, do hereby certify the

foregoing to be a full, true and correct copy of

the original Letters Testamentary granted herein,

as the same appears of record and on file in my

office. I further certify that said letters have not

been revoked and are still in full force and efOect.

In Witness Whereof, I have hereunto set my

hand and affixed the seal of the Superior Court,

this 13th day of August, 1951.

HAROLD J. OSTLY,

County Clerk.

By /s/ MARY J. TRUMBO,
Deputy Clerk.

[Endorsed] : Filed, County Clerk July 13, 1951.

Received and filed T.C.U.S. December 19, 1951.
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In the United States Court of Appeals
for the Ninth Circuit

Tax Court Docket No. 22322

WILLIAM P. DAVIS, JR., Now Deceased, by the

Estate of William F. Davis, Jr., California

Trust Company, Executor,

Petitioner,

vs.

COMMISSIONER OF INTERNAL REVENUE,

Respondent.

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE BY MAIL
State of California,

County of Los Angeles—ss.

Doris Litterly, being first duly sworn, says : That
afaant is a citizen of the United States and a resi-

dent of the county aforesaid; that affiant is over the
age of eighteen years and is not a party to the
above-entitled action; that affiant's business address
is: 523 West Sixth Street, Los Angeles 14, Califor-
nia

;
that on the 17th day of December, 1951, affiant

served the within Notice of Filing Petition for Re-
view, Petition for Review, and Designation of Con-
tents of Record on Review, on the Respondent in
said action, by placing a true copy thereof in an
envelope addressed to the attorney of record for
said Respondent at the office address of said attor-
ney, as follows: '^ Chief Counsel, Bureau of Internal
Revenue, Washington, D. C'; and by then sealing
said envelope and mailing same by registered
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United States mail at the city where is located the

office of the attorneys for the person by and for

whom said service was made.

That there is a delivery service by United States

mail at the place so addressed or there is a regular

communication by mail between the place of mailing

and the place so addressed.

/s/ DORIS LITTERLY.

Subscribed and Sworn to before me this 17th day

of December, 1951.

/s/ CARRIE N. KILBOURN,
Notary Public in and for

Said County and State.

Received and filed T. C. U. S., December 19, 1951.

[Title of Tax Court and Cause.]

CERTIFICATE

I, Victor S. Mersch, Clerk of The Tax Court of

the United States, do hereby certify that the fore-

going documents, 1 to 26, inclusive, constitute and

are all of the original papers and proceedings, in-

cluding all original exhibits, (Petitioner's exhibits

1 thru 10, and Respondent's exhibits A thru G), ad-

mitted in evidence, on file in my office as the orig-

inal and complete record in the proceedings before

The Tax Court of the United States entitled :
''Wil-

liam F. Davis, Jr., now deceased, by the Estate of

William F. Davis, Jr., California Trust Company,

Executor, Petitioner, v. Commissioner of Internal
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Revenue, Respondent," Docket No. 22322 and in
which the petitioner in the Tax Court has initiated
an appeal as above numbered and entitled, to-

gether with a true copy of the docket entries in said
Tax Court proceeding, as the same appear in the
official docket book in my office.

In testimony whereof, I hereunto set my hand
and affix the seal of The Tax Court of the United
States, at Washington, in the District of Columbia,
this 18th day of January, 1952.

[Seal] /s/ VICTOR S. MERSCH,
Clerk, The Tax Court of

the United States.

[Endorsed]
: No. 13244. United States Court of

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. William F. Davis,
Jr., now Deceased, by the Estate of William P.
Davis, Jr., California Trust Company, Executor^
Petitioner, vs. Commissioner of Internal Revenue,
Respondent. Transcript of the Record. Petition to'

Review a Decision of The Tax Court of the United
States.

Filed January 25, 1952.

PAUL P. O'BRIEN,
Clerk of the United States Court of Appeals for

the Ninth Circuit.
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In the United States Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit

No. 13244

WILLIAM F. DAVIS, JR., Now Deceased, by the

Estate of William F. Davis, Jr., California Trust

Company, Executor,

Petitioner,

vs.

COMMISSIONER OF INTERNAL REVENUE,
Respondent.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

Now, comes William F. Davis, Jr., by the Estate

of William F. Davis, Jr., California Trust Com-

pany, Executor, the petitioner herein, by Adams,

Duque & Hazeltine, his attorneys, and hereby as-

serts the following errors which he intends to urge

on review by the United States Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit of the decision of the Tax

Court of the United States rendered in the above-

entitled cause on September 28, 1951:

1. The Tax Court erred in determining that an

amount of $12,659.00 paid by petitioner during the

taxable year 1946 to United Drug, Inc., constituted

an improper deduction under section 23 of the In-

ternal Revenue Code.

2. The Tax Court erred in failing to allow the

deduction of said $12,659.00 either under sections

23(a) or (e) of the Internal Revenue Code.

3. The Tax Court erred in determining that the

payment of $12,659.00 required to be made by peti-
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tioner to United Drug, Inc., was in the nature of a
penalty and the allowance of a deduction therefor
would be contrary to public policy

4. The Tax Court erred in entering its decision
wherein it ordered and decided that there is a de-
ficiency in income tax of $5,834.78, for the calendar
year 1946.

ADAMS, DUQUE &
HAZELTINE.

By BRYANT B. BURTON,
Attorneys for Petitioner, 523 West Sixth Street,

Los Angeles 14, California.

[Endorsed]
: Piled U. S. C. A., March 5, 1952.

[Title of Court of Appeals and Cause.]

DESIGNATION OP CONTENTS OP RECORD
Pursuant to Rule 19(6) of the Rules of the United

States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, the
petitioner hereby designates for inclusion in the
printed record on appeal the following portions of
the record, proceedings and evidence in this action:

1. The complete record and all the proceedings
and evidence in the action.

ADAMS, DUQUE &
HAZELTINE.

By BRYANT B. BURTON,
Attorneys for Petitioner, 523 West Sixth Street,

Los Angeles 14, Calif.

[Endorsed]: Piled U. S. C. A., March 5, 1952.
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[Title of Court of Appeals and Cause.]

STIPULATION

It Is Hereby Stipulated, by and between the par-

ties to the above-entitled action, through their re-

spective attorneys of record, that all of the exhibits

which were presented to the Tax Court of the

United States in the above-entitled action, all of

which are a part of the record on appeal in this ac-

tion, may be considered in their original form by

the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit and that

said exhibits need not be printed.

Dated: April 22, 1952.

/s/ ELLIS N. SLACK,

Acting Assistant Attorney General, Attorney for

Commissioner of Internal Revenue.

ADAMS, DUQUE &

HAZELTINE.

By BRYANT R. BURTON,

Attorneys for Petitioner, 523 West Sixth Street,

Los Angeles 14, Calif.

So ordered:

/s/ WILLIAM DENMAN,
Chief Judge.

/s/ WILLIAM HEALY,

/s/ HOMER BONE,
United States Circuit Judges.

[Endorsed] : Filed U. S. C. A., April 28, 1952.


